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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEESNWMRIDMN

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China Gamma Group Limited
(the "Company”) announces the annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 March 2013.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded a turnover
of HK$48,523,000 (2012: HK$26,726,000), representing an increase
of 82% compared with previous financial year. The increase was
mainly attributable to the operating results from rare earth refinery
and processing business which began trial production in February
2012. During the financial year, the Group also recorded a transaction
proceed of disposing subsidiaries holding properties in China
amounted to approximately HK$42,840,000.

Loss from operations for the year was HK$168,562,000 (2012 as
restated: HK$51,250,000), which was mainly attributable to the
recognition of an impairment loss of HK$82,346,000 (2012: HK$Nil)
as stated in the Company’s September 2012 interim results, and
the amortisation HK$50,364,000 (2012: HK$13,537,000) of the
intangible asset of the rare earth refinery and processing business.
Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
increased to HK$143,475,000 (2012: HK$56,198,000).

As at 31 March 2013, the total assets and net assets of the
Group were HK$949,997,000 and HK$190,554,000 (2012:
HK$1,077,098,000 and HK$360,413,000) respectively. The Board
does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31
March 2013.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group is mainly engaged in
property business, gamma ray irradiation services and resources
business.

Property Business
The Group’s property business includes property development,
rental and sales and trading of building materials and provision of
renovation services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As discussed in the Interim Report 2012 of the Company, the growth
of property market in the PRC slowed down in recent years. In
light of the uncertainty of market conditions, the Group took the
opportunity to transact its properties under development which
located in Chongqging, the PRC in August 2012. The disposal realized
a total proceeds of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$42,840,000) and recognized a gain of approximately
HK$1,656,000.

Total proceed generated from our property business was
HK$50,886,000 (2012: HK$17,316,000) including the proceed
of disposing subsidiaries holding properties in China, turnover of
property development, rental and sales and trading of building
materials and provision of renovation services, which were
approximately HK$42,840,000, HK$8,018,000 and HK$28,000 for the
year (2012: HK$Nil, HK$16,450,000 and HK$866,000) respectively.
Segment loss from property development, rental and sales narrowed
down to HK$2,185,000 (2012 as restated: HK$6,345,000) while loss
for trading of building materials and provision of renovation services
was HK$774,000 (2012: HK$392,000).

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

Gamma ray irradiation is a proven effective means of cold
pasteurization of food and sterilization of medical products. The
Group's gamma ray irradiation business is conducted through 3 & I
FEeRIEEB R AR QA (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co.
Limited*), a 80% owned subsidiary of the Group which is licensed
by Ministry of Environmental Protection of the PRC for provisioning
of irradiation services by utilizing gamma ray technologies. Turnover
generated from the gamma ray irradiation services for the financial
year was HK$5,941,000 (2012: HK$9,404,000). This segment
reported a loss of HK$2,515,000 (2012: Profit of HK$1,080,000).
During the financial year under review, an increase in competition
which resulted in a decline in margins amidst weaker market demand
have affected the operating performance of the business. As such, the
Group has increased its marketing efforts, including conducting more
seminars to expand customer base during the year. Despite moderate
competition may happen in the short term, the Group believes there
will be long term sustainable growth in this industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEFNWRIN (&)

Resources Business

Since the Group has set up its resources division, it has been exploring
and expanding into resources business with great potentials and
applications in various industries in China and other regions. We
started with midstream business in the resources industry and our
first project is related to rare earth refinery and processing business
in China. It is conducted through £ &%E#H B & AR QA
(Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology Company Limited*), a
54% owned subsidiary of the Group, which operates a major rare
earth refinery and processing plant situated in Mianning, Sichuan
province.

As discussed in the Company's interim report for the six months
period ended 30 September 2012, due to a change in the market
situation e.g. price drop, decrease in demand, PRC government
policies controlling the supply of rare earth raw materials etc.,
particularly since August 2012, the whole rare earth industry has
been disrupted. In view of the abrupt worsening of the business
environment, and the uncertain timing of a recovery of the demand
for rare earth products, the Group took a prudent approach to
procure less rare earth raw materials and reduced its rare earth oxides
production. The Group also prudently reviewed the asset value of the
business and recognised an impairment loss on intangible asset of
the rare earth refinery and processing business which amounted to
HK$82,346,000 (2012: HK$NIl).

Currently, the demand and price of rare earth products still remain
low and the prospects of the rare earth market is an uncertainty. In
view of this, the Group started to rationalize the resources business
by considering the possibilities of restructuring the rare earth
refinery and processing business, and made a plan to sell a group of
subsidiaries that engaged in the rare earth refinery and processing
business if the assets value would be better reflected by such a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. The Group is actively
seeking buyers for the said business. As such, the rare earth refinery
and processing business is reclassified as assets and liabilities held for
sale and the details are presented under the heading "“Assets/liabilities
classified as held for sale” in the Group's consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Meanwhile, the Group has been actively exploring into different
opportunities related to value chain of resources from upstream,
midstream to downstream. A number of potential resources projects
have been assessed and various studies on these potential projects
were made. The resources division will continue to evaluate the
viability and economics of these potential projects. We hope that
through these evaluations, the Group will be able to identify and
develop suitable resources projects which generate profitable return
to the shareholders.

For the financial year under review, turnover from the Group's
resources business amounted to HK$34,536,000 (2012: HK$6,000).
The segment reported a loss of HK$152,072,000 (2012:
HK$25,787,000), after the recognition of an impairment loss on
and amortisation of intangible asset of the rare earth refinery and
processing business which in total amounted to HK$132,710,000
(2012: HK$13,537,000).

Other Operation

During the year under review, Hong Kong stock markets remained
volatile amid sluggish global economies. Due to both unrealised and
realised gains on equity investments held for trading, the securities
trading and investment business reported a profit of HK$3,076,000
(2012: HK$14,999,000).

PROSPECT

The global economic condition has shown signs of improvement but
remains weak. The economy of the United States has been growing
slowly while the risk of the Euro zone debt crisis is not over yet.
The Chinese economy also sees some modest growth although the
momentum of recovery has been slow. Domestic demand remains

sluggish.

Property Business

Against the backdrop of a more stable policy environment in the
real estate industry, new home sales in China have recovered since
the second half of 2012, and the momentum should remain steady.
As for non-residential property in China, the development of
commercial properties, and property related to cultural and tourism
development is getting mature which creates more opportunities for
developers. The Group has always been devoting resources to land
bank acquisitions in China and other regions for different types of
property development. The Group continues to explore opportunities
in property development and investment in China and other regions,
to leverage on our expertise and experience in the property business,
as well as to support the development of our other businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEFNWRIN (&)

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

In view of sluggish Chinese demand and slow global economic
recovery, demand for food irradiation and sterilization of medical
devices using gamma ray technologies for export will likely be
impacted in the near term. However, higher domestic food and drug
hygiene standard and safety requirements and the government’s
commitment to enforce related regulations should encourage
domestic food and drug manufactures to adopt gamma ray irradiation
in sterilization. In order to cater for the sustainable growth of gamma
ray irradiation services in China, the Group plans to expand its
services to products with high margins, such as health food, drugs
and chemicals, as well as to provinces such as Henan, Hebei and
Jiangsu. The Group will also increase its marketing efforts, including
conducting more seminars to food and drug safety bureau, and
food and drug enterprises in China, to increase potential domestic
customers awareness of gamma ray irradiation applications, with a
view to expand domestic customer base. In addition, the Group will
continue to enhance its technology to strengthen our competitive
position. The Group believes that its gamma ray irradiation business
would benefit from the remarkable growth of food and drug industry
in the long term.

Resources Business

Since the establishment of our resources division, the Group has
been exploring different opportunities related to value chain of
resources from upstream, midstream to downstream. The division
strives for becoming one of the key players in upstream, midstream
and downstream businesses and becoming a full vertically integrated
player in the industry. While we are at an early stage in exploring
into potential resources projects, a number of potential resources
projects have been assessed and various studies on these potential
projects were made. Our resources division will continue to evaluate
the viability and economics of these potential projects. We hope that
through this continuous review, the Group will be able to develop
a suitable portfolio of resources business with stable and profitable
return to the shareholders.

Capital Investment and Commitments

At 31 March 2013, the Group had capital commitments contracted
for but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the purchase of plant and machinery amounting to
approximately HK$346,000 (2012: approximately HK$678,000).

The Company had no significant capital commitments at both balance
sheet dates.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group raised net proceeds of approximately HK$40,075,000 for
general working capital upon the completion of placing and top-
up subscription of 420,000,000 ordinary shares in March 2013.
As at 31 March 2013, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of HK$56,437,000 (31 March 2012: HK$18,774,000). Short term
bank borrowings, long term bank and other borrowings, and
liability component of convertible note as at 31 March 2013 were
HK$Nil (31 March 2012: HK$9,864,000), HK$66,667,000 (31 March
2012: HK$424,850,000) and HK$94,823,000 (31 March 2012:
HK$88,848,000) respectively. The gearing ratio, being the ratio of the
sum of total borrowings and convertible note to total equity was 85%
as at 31 March 2013 (31 March 2012: 145%). The liquidity ratio,
being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities, was 154%
as at 31 March 2013 (31 March 2012: 108%). The improvement of
the liquidity was mainly due to reclassification of assets and liabilities
of the rare earth refinery and processing business as held for sale in
current year. In order to further improve the Group’s liquidity and
to increase its working capital, the Company is considering different
fund raising options so as to strengthen the Group's financial base.

Pledge of Assets

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s land use rights and certain property,
plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$18,467,000 (31 March 2012: HK$15,885,000) were pledged to a
bank to secure the bank borrowing granted to the Group.

Contingent Liabilities

At 31 March 2013, the Company had given guarantees to two
lenders in respect of other borrowings utilised by a subsidiary
to an extent of RMB256,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$316,049,000) (2012: equivalent to approximately
HK$315,193,000). The Directors do not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under any of the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Company at 31 March 2013 under
the guarantees by the Company is the aggregate amount of the
borrowings drawn down by the subsidiary and the outstanding
interests payable. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of
these guarantees is not significant.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEFNWRIN (&)

The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of financial support
given to certain subsidiaries which have capital deficiencies to allow
them to continue as a going concern and to meet their liabilities as
and when they fall due.

The Group had no other significant contingent liabilities as at both

balance sheet dates.

Share Capital Structure
5,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and allotted
during the year upon exercise of share options granted by the

Company.

As a result of the placing and the top-up subscription being
completed on 21 March 2013, 420,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01
each were allotted and issued to Mega Market Assets Limited at
HK$0.097 per share. Details of which are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 13 March 2013 and 21 March 2013
respectively.

As at 31 March 2013, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 3,798,681,490. Save as the above, there was no
change in the share capital structure of the Company during the year
under review.

Convertible Note

In October 2011, the Company issued the convertible note to Mega
Market Assets Limited with principal amount of HK$105,000,000
in a term of 3 years (the “Convertible Note”). The Convertible Note
bear interest at the rate of 1% per annum payable semi-annually
in arrears. Each Convertible Note will be convertible into fully paid
Shares at an initial conversion price of HK$0.27 per share. As a
result of the placing and top-up subscription of the Company being
completed on 21 March 2013, pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Convertible Note, the conversion price of the Convertible Note
has been adjusted from HK$0.27 per share to HK$0.2422 per share.
Based on the current outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Note (HK$105,000,000), the number of shares to be issued and
allotted upon full conversion of the Convertible Note after adjustment
to the conversion price shall be 433,526,011 shares. The aforesaid
adjustment has been effective from 21 March 2013. At 31 March
2013, the principal amount of the Convertible Note outstanding was
HK$105,000,000 (31 March 2012: HK$105,000,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

On 17 August 2012, Fame Plus International Limited (“Fame Plus”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Mr. Guo Qingguo (the “Purchaser”),
pursuant to which Fame Plus has conditionally agreed to sell and
the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued
share capital of Unique Gold Investments Limited (“Unique Gold")
at a consideration of RMB10,000,000 (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”). Unique Gold owned the entire equity interest in 2
EELEEEBREM2AR (Chongging Feng Hong Ji Enterprise
Company Limited*) (the “Project Company”). In addition, when the
Sale and Purchase Agreement has been entered into, the Purchaser
shall pay RMB25,000,000 to the Project Company to settle and repay
the current debts and other relevant debts between I & i B 5 i &=
F#E B R AR (Chongging Sunrise Property Development Company
Limited*), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the Project Company. Details of the transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 17 August 2012. The transaction

has been completed on 17 August 2012.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2013.

Litigations

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited (”Silver
Wind"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
conditional agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with Stronway
Development Limited (“Stronway Development”), pursuant to which
Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway Development the entire
equity interest in Winmax Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”).
Under the arrangement, Winmax Asia would in turn acquire the
entire equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development
Co. ("Jianxing”) along with Jianxing's standalone villas development
project in Beijing known as “¥T 2 7£E". The aggregate consideration
payable for the acquisition was RMB433,000,000 which was to be
settled in cash, and two villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000
was paid under the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway Development
by Silver Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details of the acquisition
are set out in the Company’s circular dated 14 December 2007.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEFNWRIN (&)

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things, that the
subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement was frustrated,
Silver Wind decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement and,
through its legal representative has served a notice of termination to
Stronway Development. In order to protect the position of Silver Wind
and to recover, amongst other things, the Deposit from Stronway
Development, the legal proceedings were instigated against Stronway
Development on this matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15
April 2008.

As at the date hereof, the legal proceedings against Stronway
Development are still pending and there is no significant

development.

Exposure to Exchange Rate Risk and Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange
forward contracts to hedge against exchange rates fluctuations.
Foreign exchange risk arising from the normal course of operations is
considered to be minimal and the management will closely monitor
the fluctuation in the currency and take appropriate actions when
condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not have
any significant interest rate risk as both the borrowings of the Group

and the interest rates currently remain at low levels.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 March 2013, the Group employed 222 employees (31 March
2012: 250). Remuneration packages are generally structured by
reference to market terms and individual merits. Salaries are reviewed
periodically based on performance appraisal and other relevant
factors. Staff benefits plans maintained by the Group include medical
insurance, hospitalization scheme, mandatory provident fund and
share option scheme.

Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to the prevailing
market conditions in the locations of their employments.

Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2013 (2012: HK$Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Corporate Governance

None of the Directors is aware of any information which would
reasonably indicate that the Company is not, or was not, throughout
the year, in compliance with the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) under the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except
the following deviations:

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor
a Chief Executive. Nevertheless, the main duties and responsibilities
of a Chairman and a Chief Executive are currently held by separate
individuals with written guidelines for the division of responsibilities
with a view to maintain an effective segregation of duties between
the management of the Board and the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business and operations. The Company will continue
to review the effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance
structure and consider the appointment of a Chairman of the
Board and a Chief Executive if candidates with suitable leadership,
knowledge, skills and experience can be identified within or outside

the Group.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, the
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are
subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual general

meeting as specified in the Company's bye-laws.

Further information is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in annual report for the year ended 31 March 2013.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditors, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013.

EEEBENWRRDN (&)

EEER

EERIAATZEEAENAERT ARARBRY
REALTBETEEMAIIMBERAAZFSF LR
Al (T Em R R 851457 3 4 258 08 57 Bl 2 <7 BIl %
SCCTsF RG] ) » MR 514 B35 BR b -

BRETRGXFEA2 G ETEATRERZ BERE
Ban kA ER— ARERE - ZFERTHRAR2MHE
B DEABHATHLAZTEIEZASE - ARFE
AIIE B E B RITIRAE - AN TERITRAERZ T
ERBLBEBNRBERESD K 2E®ESIATR
BENALTEE UWERINDEESERAAEEEE
REEZARER 2B - ARBBESERS N EE
EEERRB 2R MEEAREEERANILHINEGY
EIAGBABERES L ME RERERZ AR
KEEERTEEGEERITREH -

REBETAIRXEAA VG FERTESFRRIECES
R UAESER-BA FRTEFUNRETE
EMZE ERSFARBARA 2 RAMARARE
ZBRRBERE LRESE-

BEZ=ZF=-A=+HALFEZFRAALE
ERMEREEZER -

EREEY

ARARBREZECEHRERE RARAIINEZH
MBEAASBEMRM TR REN AR
BB ARBEERMHERET BEEHEE=Z
—ZFZAZt+—BLhEEZHBHRE-

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =4 1 3




Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEEFNWRIN (&)

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made
to all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2013.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
to shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and professional
advisors for their support of the Company over the past year and to
sincerely thank the staff for their ongoing dedication and contribution

made in the year.

On behalf of the Board

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2013

* The English translation of Chinese names or words are for information
purpose only, and should not be regarded as the official English
translation of such Chinese names or words.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel, aged 53, joined the Board on 13
January 2012. Prior to that, Mr. Wong has been the vice president
of the Group since 2010. He is responsible for the overall strategic
management, development and marketing of the resources projects.
Mr. Wong has over 12 years of experience in natural resources
industry and served as an executive director in a various natural
resources company which is listed in Hong Kong. He also has
extensive experience in the management and development of natural

resources projects in China.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren, aged 56, joined the Board on 24
July 2006. He had been an executive director of the Company since
24 July 2006 and had been redesignated to non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 23 May 2008. Prior to that, Mr.
Ma served as an executive director and a company secretary of a
Hong Kong listed company for over 7 years. He has over 24 years of
accounting experience and is an associate member of both the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor, aged 57, joined the Board on 30 April 2006.
He had been an independent non-executive director of the Company
since 30 April 2006 and had been redesignated to non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 20 November 2007. He is
a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow graduated from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1981 with an honors degree in
Social Science. He then obtained an honors degree in Laws from the
University of Birmingham in England in 1987. Mr. Chow was admitted
as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1990 and has
been in private practice since then. Currently, Mr. Chow is a Partner
of King & Wood Mallesons, Solicitors, Hong Kong. He serves as an
independent non-executive director of CCT Telecom Holdings Limited,
CCT Tech International Limited and REXLot Holdings Limited, all of
which are listed companies in Hong Kong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, aged 52, joined the Board on 13 February
2006. He is a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a
fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Certified Public Accountants and
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He also serves as an independent non-executive
director of Sino Resources Group Limited, a listed company in Hong
Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 46, joined the Board on 30 April 2006.
He holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration and a master
of science degree in Corporate Governance and Directorship. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr. Chan is a practicing certified public
accountant and has extensive experience in accounting, taxation,
financial management, corporate finance and corporate governance.
He is currently an executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited
and Noble Century Investments Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Sam Woo Holdings Limited) and an independent non-executive
director of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited, China Sandi Holdings
Limited (formerly known as China Grand Forestry Green Resources
Group Limited), Jun Yang Solar Power Investments Limited (formerly
known as China Gogreen Assets Investment Limited), Media Asia
Group Holdings Limited, New Times Energy Corporation Limited
(redesignated from non-executive director with effect from 18 May
2012) and U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited, all of which
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chan
was an independent non-executive director of Superb Summit
International Timber Company Limited (now renamed as Superb
Summit International Group Limited) from April 2007 to June 2010,
The Hong Kong Building and Loan Agency Limited from October 2009
to February 2011 and Richly Field China Development Limited from
February 2009 to August 2010, all of which are listed companies in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Hung Hing Man, aged 42, joined the Board on 31 March
2009. He holds a masters degree in Business Administration
from the University of Western Sydney. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and a member of the Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Hung is currently a proprietor of a
certified public accountants firm. He has over 16 years of working
experience in corporate finance, accounting, auditing and taxation
sectors. Mr. Hung was an independent non-executive director of
Eternity Investment Limited from May 2010 to November 2011,
and is currently an independent non-executive director of Madex
International (Holdings) Limited, all of which are listed companies in
Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Hok Yuk, aged 47, is a Company Secretary of the Company.
Mr. Lau holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from
the University of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom. He is a Fellow
Certified Public Accountant and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. He is also a Chartered
Financial Analyst in the United States of America, an associate
member of the Taxation Institution of Hong Kong as well as a
Certified Tax Advisor. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of working experience
in the areas of financial control, corporate finance, business
development and administration, legal and compliance, procurement
and logistics, trading, investor relationship and human resources.

Mr. Chan Chun Lam, aged 40, is a Financial Controller of
the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration in Accounting with honors from Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is a fellow member of both the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 18 years of professional

experience in financial management and auditing.

Mr. Gu Zhong Xiang, aged 71, is the senior engineer of rare
resources division of the Group and is responsible for the sales and
development of rare earth products. He is a Professor-level Senior
Engineer. Mr. Gu graduated from Department of Modern Chemistry,
University of Science and Technology of China. He has over 41 years
of experience in natural resources industry and specialises in sales,
development and analysis for the rare earth products. He cooperated
with Bureau of Geology Survey on Non-ferrous Metal of Guangdong
Province (B A A G E) B ) in the inspection ion-absorbed
rare earths resources in the South China. He has involved in the
foundation of several rare earth refinery and processing enterprises
in Shaanxi Province and Sichuan Province of China, including a
Japanese-funded enterprise. During this period, Mr. Gu engaged in
rare earth processing technology development and product analysis
testing. He is also a standing director of BRFEE# L& (Shaanxi
Province Rare Earth Society).

Mr. Li Ming Dong, aged 50, is the senior engineer of rare resources
division of the Group and is responsible for the planning and
coordinating the production of the rare earth refinery business in
Xichang. Mr. Li graduated from Department of Chemistry, Peking
University. He has over 24 years of experience in natural resources
industry and specialises in operation and planning for the rare earth
refinery.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESREREEAERE (&)

Mr. Yang Zi Jiang, aged 72, is the director of a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and is responsible for the evaluation of
resources projects, including geology and exploration assessment, of
the Group. Mr. Yang graduated from Chengdu College of Geology,
the PRC. He has over 37 years of experience in geological exploration,
and the research and studies of various kinds of natural resources and
metals including rare earth. Mr. Yang is one of the draftsmen of “# +
BEMWEHEIRE" (Specifications for rare earth mineral exploration)
issued by the Ministry of Land and Resources of the People’s Republic
of China in 2002.

Mr. Fang Yan Qun, aged 69, is the director of a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and is responsible for the development
and operation of resources projects, including mineral processing.
Mr. Fang graduated from Central South University, the PRC, major
in mineral processing. He has over 45 years of experience in natural
resources industry and specialises in processing of various kinds of
mineral resources. He has worked as an engineer, a senior engineer,
and subsequently as a professor-level senior engineer in Wuhan Iron
and Steel (Group) Limited for a period of more than 28 years.

1 8 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

BFIERE 72 RARFRZEWMBARIZES
BEMEAREZERER (2D RETRFMG)
BEERERDERSLE B0 MR EHR - H
ERARERBRAERREBEER LEFBI7F
KH-BEERTEARAMBIEN T BERM20025F 2
R [ HEIREMEDHERB | HEP—LEEA-

FREEE 695 AARRIZEWNBARZES
BEREREEERER(RERMINI) - H k4L
BERTEPBEALEBREE - BRRARERERS
WMASFEH BENZEBWERZMI - HAERZE
MEEBMARETIREM 2R IEM HEAER
TFERME284F -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Good corporate governance has always been recognized as vital to
the Group’s success and to sustain development of the Group. We
commit ourselves to a high standard of corporate governance and
have devoted considerable efforts to identifying and formulating
corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices to
meet the code provisions (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), that are
considered to be relevant to the Group and has complied with most
of the Code Provisions for the time being in force throughout the year
under review save for certain deviations from the Code Provisions,
details of which will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this
Report. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of
the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the "Directors”) are collectively
responsible for the oversight of the management of business and
affairs of the Group to the best interest of the shareholders of the
Company.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) currently comprises a total of six
Directors, with one Executive Director namely Mr. Wong King Shiu,
Daniel; two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ma Kwok Hung,
Warren and Mr. Chow Siu Ngor; and three Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr.
Hung Hing Man. A list containing the names of the Directors and their
roles and functions is published on the websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 15 to
18. To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships between
members of the Board.

Throughout the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules respectively relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise and the Independent Non-
executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board.

Corporate Governance Report
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All Independent Non-executive Directors are financially independent
from the Group. The Company confirmed with all Independent Non-
executive Directors as to their independence with reference to the
factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board is collectively responsible for the formulating of the
Group’s overall strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business
performance of the Group, preparing and approving financial
statements, recommendation of the Directors’ appointment or
re-appointment, considering and approving material contracts and
transactions (in particular those may involve conflict of interests) as
well as other significant policy and financial matters. The Board also
gives clear directions as to the powers delegated to the management
for the day-to-day operation, management and administration
functions of the Group. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions entered into by the management
and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its

responsibilities.

There were six Board meetings and one general meeting held for the
year ended 31 March 2013. The following was an attendance record
of the Board meetings and general meeting during the year:

ERBVFANTESEVB LOBIRAEE - AR
AD2REMRANEI 1IBEMBZER B2 RBY
FERITEE 2B

ERgARBEHRIASE ERER BRI RERER
SEZEBRE REMAEMBRR AEHEZER
BIEEROEBER ZRRBEERANERS
(LEEMES kA aERE) BEMhERRE LRI
EE-BEFEENEURTEREERASHEELE &
BRITHBEE 2N GA TIEM RS - ERENATLE
MEARRXZH BARGESSHE MEFENEE
BEAXF TEITHLRS-

BE_Z-=F=A=+-HLFE ARAGHT
RNREZGEER—RBERRE - AT RNFERNELT
ZEFREEANMBRRGZHELE:

Number of Number of
Board general
meetings meetings
attended/held attended/held
b BT bR
Name of Directors BEERE EZEERAY BRAKERH
Executive Director HITESE
Wong King Shiu, Daniel s2K 6/6 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren 5B 6/6 1/1
Chow Siu Ngor /& 6/6 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Wong Hoi Kuen =8 6/6 1/1
Chan Chi Yuen BRAEE 5/6 171
Hung Hing Man LEX 6/6 11
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature
of offices held in other public companies or organization and other
significant commitments in a timely manner and will provide updates
to the Company on any subsequent changes.

All Directors have been provided with monthly updates by the Group’s
management, giving a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group's performance, position, recent developments and
prospects in sufficient detail to keep them abreast of the Group's
affairs and facilitate them to discharge their duties under the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out

in writing.

The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor a Chief
Executive. Nevertheless, the main duties and responsibilities of
a Chairman and a Chief Executive are currently held by separate
individuals with written guidelines for the division of responsibilities
with a view to maintain an effective segregation of duties between
the management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Group's business and operations.

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group's
corporate governance structure and consider the appointment of
a Chairman of the Board and a Chief Executive if candidates with
suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and experience can be identified
within or outside the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code Provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, the
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are
subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual general
meeting as specified in the Company's bye-laws.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established relevant board committees to assist in
discharging its responsibilities.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012.
It currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Hung Hing Man (as Chairman), Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen and
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and one Executive Director namely Mr. Wong King
Shiu, Daniel.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates
for directorship, appointment or re-appointment and succession
of Directors, and assessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors. Details of the duties and powers of the
Nomination Committee are set out in its written terms of reference

which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

EExZET
EEXEeCAVEREZSRE S PBHETHRS-
REERS

REEZEEGR T —_F=A-+LtEXKZ REH
ZERBURNITEFAEELE (7)) FHEREELE
FREEEEAR - BATEETER KA EEK-

REZESTIZATRNEETGZRE  ABRAEK

HEBEFANR EFZAXEFZERETRES
BRIEBER UNFRBINTEE 2B
REZBEZREMENFFRHNEAEOBERE

ARARAB R AELEE

Exchange.

There was one Nomination Committee meeting held for the year HE-_ZT—=F=-"A=1+—HLFE RELZLESY
ended 31 March 2013. The following was an attendance record of BIT—REE-UTARFARTZIREZEEEH

the Nomination Committee meeting held during the year: Py G-
Number of
meetings
attended/held
bR
Nomination Committee Members REZEEHE EEYS
Hung Hing Man (Chairman) BX (£/E) 11
Wong Hoi Kuen E/% 1/1
Chan Chi Yuen BREGE 11
Wong King Shiu, Daniel mak 1/1

During the year under review, work performed by the Nomination
Committee included (i) determining the policy for the nomination
of directors with reference to the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; and
(ii) reviewing the annual confirmation of independence submitted
by the Independent Non-executive Directors and assessing their
independence. Nomination procedures and the process and criteria
will be determined by the Nomination Committee should there be the
need to select and recommend candidates for directorship.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 July 2006.
It currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (as Chairman), Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen and
Mr. Hung Hing Man and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Chow
Siu Ngor.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the management’'s remuneration proposals, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management. Details of the duties and powers of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
There was one Remuneration Committee meeting held for the year

ended 31 March 2013. The following was an attendance record of

the Remuneration Committee meeting held during the year:

Remuneration Committee Members

FMESSERE

N\ == A

TEERRSE (&)
FHEES
THEZEEEeR _TEENFLA-+THKY BEHA=

EBIUFRTEEREELLE (TR FERELER
HEXEREAR —BIEATEER NEREAK -

#ﬁ@)ﬂ?@,\aiﬁﬁuhﬁaﬁz FE R B A

ZHMBEREBUREERSREEAE ZHH
%i@ﬁ%%*@%ﬂjﬁ%%i M?,\EZH&;&@E
HhFBEIREEERESR . ‘JEA$ i 32 BT 48
UhBIE

BE_Z-=F=-A=1T-BHLFE FHWEE
BIT—REZ -UTRNRFRARTZE Mé%
2R

ma} i3
B mE

Number of
meetings
attended/held
diE 2T
EE VS

Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman)
Wong Hoi Kuen
Hung Hing Man
Chow Siu Ngor

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will
review the proposals made by the management on the remuneration
of individual Executive Director and senior management, and make
recommendations to the Board. The Board will have final authority
to approve the recommendations made by the Remuneration
Committee.

During the year under review, work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included (i) assessing performance of Executive Directors
and senior management and, where applicable, approving their
terms of services including the directors’ fees and the emoluments
of Executive Directors; and (ii) reviewing and determining on policy
and structure of the remuneration package of Directors and senior

management.
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The remuneration packages of the Board for the year ended 31
March 2013 had been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
and approved by the Board by taking into consideration factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
responsibility, market conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the year under review are
set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 March 2013 are as follows:

BE_T=ZF=-AZ+HALFEZEZSHMNF
BOHFMEZES LR YREESHE EHE
ERZARZ WALBARSNZHE BFRAZ
RENLBE NEEEMHEZT5ERNARERE
HBFHELAR - SESROBEFEZHMFEH
REF B MERMFEI0

BRECETAZFRIGXEBISK SREEEAS
RBE-ZT—=F=A=+—HALFEZFHEENF
FIanT

Number of

employees

EEBAH

HK$Nil to HK$500,000 Z % L £500,0007%8 7T 4
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7L 21,000,000/ 7T 2
6

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 1999. It currently
consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Wong Hoi Kuen (as Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr. Hung Hing
Man and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Chow Siu Ngor. The
committee members possess appropriate professional qualifications,
business or accounting and related financial management expertise
and experience to provide relevant advice and recommendations to
the Company.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the financial reporting and internal control principles of
the Company, and assist the Board to fulfill its responsibility over the
audit. Details of the duties and powers of the Audit Committee are
set out in its written terms of reference which are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include: (i) to develop and review the
(ii)

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

Company's policies and practices on corporate governance;

development of Directors and senior management; (iii) to review
and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and
monitor the code of conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the
Directors and employees; and (v) to review the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

There were two Audit Committee meetings held for the year ended

31 March 2013. The following was an attendance record of the Audit
Committee meetings held during the year:

Audit Committee Members
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BE ER
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Wong Hoi Kuen (Chairman)
Chan Chi Yuen
Hung Hing Man
Chow Siu Ngor

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence and objectivity of
the external auditor, the scope of audit services and related audit fees
payable to the external auditor for the Board’s approval. The Audit
Committee met and discussed with the external auditor on their audit
strategy and assessment of the sufficiency of the internal control of

the Group.

During the year under review, work performed by the Audit
Committee included (i) reviewing the audited annual results and the
unaudited interim results of the Group; (ii) reviewing the compliance
and internal audit reports and the compliance and corporate
governance issues of the Group; and (iii) discussing with external
auditor the audit planning work (including the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations) in respect of the audit of the
annual results of the Group.
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Number of
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There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external auditor
during the year under review.

The Audit Committee recommends the re-appointment of Ting
Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public Accountants (Practising), as the
Group's external auditor for 2014 and that the resolution shall be put
forth for the shareholders of the Company to consider and approve at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration payable to the Company’'s
external auditor, Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public Accountants
(Practising), represents the provision of audit fees for statutory audit
and other non-statutory audit services amounting to approximately
HK$1,300,000 and HK$30,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2013, the Directors have adopted
suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to its operations and
relevant to the financial statements, made judgments and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial
statements on the going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements and
those for the auditor to the shareholders of the Company are set out

on page 40.

INTERNAL CONTROL

To protect its assets and to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the
financial information that the Company employs in its business or
releases to the public, the Company conducts regular reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group's internal controls. The scope of these
reviews includes, among others, finance, operations, regulation

compliance and risk management.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company has adopted the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
the code for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Every newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on his/her first appointment so as to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and of his/her duties, responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to Directors whenever necessary.

During the year, the Company has delivered the latest version of A
Guide on Directors’ Duties” published by the Hong Kong Companies
Registry, “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent
Non-executive Directors” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors to all Directors and encourages them to read such guides in
order to acquaint themselves with the general duties of directors and
the required standard of care, skill and diligence in the performance
of their functions and exercise of their powers as Directors.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by them.

The Directors are committed to comply with Code Provision A.6.5
of CG Code on directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board will be informed and relevant.
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According to the records provided by the Directors to the Company
pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities during the
year under review. The individual training record of each Director for
the year ended 31 March 2013 is summarized below:

REREEREBELETHRAARFRHR 2L 28BS
FERNODBEFASEBEEZHEIXEREY -BE
TE-ZHF-AZ+-HLFEREEMER ZER
= lERE>Sogu Sl

Directors’ duties and Business related/
responsibilities/Corporate Accounting/Financial/
Governance/Updates on Laws, Management or
Rules and Regulations other professional skills
ESCBERBE CEER/ ES 1E]Va-H Vet Ve
EB - R B R R GBS E R EEGHBERRKE
Attending Attending
Reading seminars/ In-house Reading seminars/
materials  conferences briefings materials  conferences
HERNE/ HERNE/
B A A L] Bk B R kS
Executive Director HITEE
Wong King Shiu, Daniel v v v/ v / v
Non-executive Directors HHTEF
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren BB v/ / v v/ v
Chow Siu Ngor B0E v/ / v/ v/ v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FE#77E E
Wong Hoi Kuen G v v v v v
Chan Chi Yuen REE v/ v v/ v v
Hung Hing Man LEX v v v/ v/ v
DIRECTORS' LIABILITIES INSURANCE ExvEAERRE

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect of
potential legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities of the Group pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG
Code. Such directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed and renewed

annually.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2013, no claim has been made
against the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chun Lam resigned as company secretary of the Company
with effect from 28 May 2013. On the same date, Mr. Lau Hok Yuk
was appointed as company secretary of the Company. Mr. Chan Chun
Lam was the company secretary of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2013. Mr. Chan Chun Lam has confirmed that there
is no disagreement with the Board and that there is no other matter
in relation to his resignation that needs to be brought to the attention
of the shareholders of the Company. Up to the date of this report,
both of Mr. Chan Chun Lam and Mr. Lau Hok Yuk have undertaken
sufficient hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the
Company’s bye-laws 58, the shareholder(s) of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company with the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may request the Board to convene a special

general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company at Clarendon House, Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen'’s
Road East, Hong Kong.
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Other shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact
details (including name, address, telephone number and email
address) to the principal office of the Company at Suite 2602, 26/F,,
Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at general meetings. Proposals shall be directed in writing with
contact details (including name, address, telephone number and email
address) to the principal office of the Company at Suite 2602, 26/F,,
Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are
available on the website of the Company.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals are
appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for approval
at the next general meeting to be convened by the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company communicates with its shareholders and investors
through various channels including publication of interim and annual
reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and other corporate
communications and publications available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
Company encourages their participation through general meetings
where the Shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board,
and to exercise their right to vote at meetings.

To promote the communication between the Company and
its shareholders, the Company has established a shareholders’
communication policy which shall be reviewed on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory
and other requirements.

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum of
Association and bye-laws of the Company is published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. There have been
no changes to such constitutional documents during the year under
review.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its

principal subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 42.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 March 2013
are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director:
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel

Non-executive Directors.
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Hung Hing Man

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 87(2), Mr. Chow Siu
Ngor and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen will respectively retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Report

EEEHG

EERMREEEE T =ZF=A=1T-HLEFEZ
WEREERBB®REK-

TEXEK
RRARRREERLAR HXEMBLRZEBIHN
MK LG

ES
AEEHE_T-ZF-A=+-RUFEZEEH
RERBZ A REE -

FTENBLF
RIB—=F=ZA=+—H ARARAZIEWNBLA
A BE N B ImRM 43

M BERRE
REBEDE BERRBERFAZEBHFBERRYH
W& -

&N
ARBFRNZEAZEF BN BRKRMA3 -

S
REAFEARBERARERMIE ARG ZEEMN
T~

BITEF -
mRKEE

FHITEE:
5B A
BNERE

BULINTEF -
=EREE
REELE
LEXEE

RBERAFZ ARMABET(O B NELEERES

BEERDIRBEERRAFAE LRESER EHN
SEERAIMBBEESE-

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =4 3 1



Directors’ Report (continued)

EEeHE (&)

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES EERRO HEROREER 2ER
AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 March 2013, the interests of the directors and their RZE—=F=-A=+—H ARABREFFLBPE
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the &0 ([FHREBEGD ) £3526F 8 2 &M Arad
Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register 8 AR IBEIEEFACMEARAARRBMIME EF
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities REE7HEANTHRAQR REBEE®R 2R G  H
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the R RERE RO
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were
as follows:
Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company REAQAFRESREBEOIBTEERZFR
Percentage of the
Number of issued issued share capital
Name of Director Type of interest ordinary shares held of the Company
FisE LER NN
EspnE = E R ERITEBERHEE EBRITREABI L
Wong King Shiu, Daniel Beneficial owner 1,200,000 0.03%
=K EmBEAA
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.08%
5 B Em#Ea A
Chow Siu Ngor Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.07%
2/ME EmBEAA
Chan Chi Yuen Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.07%
PR AR Em#Ea A
Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their BREXEEEN RZE—=F=ZA=1+—H0 " FF
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares, AWEZHEATHERA AT S EEMIEREE 2
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its R ARG REEEPRERE T AERZIAR -

associated corporations as at 31 March 2013.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2002 Scheme”) which, unless otherwise terminated, will remain
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 24 April 2002. At the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2011, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2011 Scheme”)
in place of the 2002 Scheme. Upon the 2011 Scheme becoming
unconditional and effective on 23 August 2011, the 2002 Scheme
was terminated on the same date. Nevertheless, share options
granted under the 2002 Scheme prior to its termination shall continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.
Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
32 to the financial statements.

284,000,000 share options were granted under the 2011 Scheme
during the year and there were no share options outstanding under
the 2002 Scheme as at 31 March 2013. The respective movements in
share options granted under the 2002 Scheme and under the 2011
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2013 are shown below:

Directors’ Report (continued)
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B
REZTZZFMAZ+MA - AR a4 — 18R E
B (T =F53)) BBTRILIN —TFT=
FHEGEE - TET_FONA-t+HBRIFEEAR
R BEI0F - R_TE——FN\A-_+-HETZ
‘ﬂﬂi%ﬁikﬁi'$”‘ﬂ%§<’%*lﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ§%§+
(=T ——FHE D UBRR =TT ZF5E-
—E-—FFEEZE——FNAZT= Eﬂzﬁﬂ
BHERERE S _FFERABAEERIE-A
M RZTEZFHEREABRIBZTERL ZER
ERFEAER WA RBEEBEITIERTFUATE - AR
AIBE MR ERT B S B E N M S MR M 5232 »

FRN - ARFIRE =T ——F5H 85 1H284,000,000
"H%H%EP'\“‘\*%—:¢:ﬁ:+—mﬁ%ﬂﬁ%§:
ST -FHEMKTEZERE-HE T —=F=
A= + BLEFE HRRE-_ZSZ_FHER=-F
——FHEICEEEREZESHI RO

The 2002 Scheme —EE_F3E
Number of options
BREHA
Weighted
average
closing price
of the shares
immediately
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise before the
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March Date of price Exercisable respective
participant 2012 the year the year the year 2013 grant per share period exercise date
BEREZ
R® R® TRB S
—g-C-F —E-=% R 17 2 i
SEAER MA—-H FRREL FRITE FRAM™ =ZA=t-8 REAH BRITHEE TEHE FHhHE
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Directors
s
Chow Siu Ngor 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009 - 0.1645
BNE 15/09/2012
500,000 - - (500,000) - 25/01/2011 0.150 25/01/2011 - N/A
(Note 1) 24/01/2013 TER
(Hit1)

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =4 3 3




Directors’ Report (continued)

EEeHE (&)

SHARE OPTIONS (continued) B (&)
The 2002 Scheme (continued) —ET_FFE (&)

Number of options

BREHA
Weighted
average
closing price
of the shares
immediately
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise before the
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March Date of price Exercisable respective
participant 2012 the year the year the year 2013 grant per share period exercise date
REEREZ
R® R® TRB 8
—E-CF —E-=F R4 2
SEAER mA—-H FRRH FRTE FREA¥ =ZA=+-8 REBH BRTHEE TIEAE FHRHE
HKS HK$
B BT
Directors
Bz
Chan Chi Yuen 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009 - 0.1645
BEE 15/09/2012
500,000 - - (500,000) - 25/01/2011 0.150 25/01/2011 - N/A
(Note 1) 24/01/2013 TER
(Hit1)
Other eligible 27,000,000 - - (27,000,000 - 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009 - N/A
participants (Note 1) 15/09/2012 TiER
HitEERBEA (Hizt1)
28,000,000 - - (28,000,000) - 25/01/2011 0.150 25/01/2011 - N/A
(Note 1) 24/01/2013 TER
(Hizt1)
Total 61,000,000 - (5,000,000)  (56,000,000) -
@t
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BRRE (8)
The 2011 Scheme —E——EHE

Number of options

BREHA
Weighted
average
closing price
of the shares
immediately
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise before the
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March Date of price Exercisable respective
participant 2012 the year the year the year 2013 grant per share period exercise date
REEEZ
R® R® TERMA
—8-=f —E-=f R 17 2 b
SEAER mA—A FRRE FRTE EREXH ZA=t+-8 REAH BRTHEE ATESE FHRHE
HKS HKS
BT BT

Employees - 99,000,000 - - 99,000,000 27/07/2012 0.163 27/07/2012 - N/A

&S 26/07/2014 TER

Other eligible - 185,000,000 - - 185,000,000 27/07/2012 0.163 27/07/2012 - N/A

participants 26/07/2014 TER

HitaERSEA

Total - 284,000,000 - - 284,000,000

@t (Note 2)

(Hiit2)

Notes: Htat -

1. The share options were lapsed upon expiry. 1. ZEBREC NI R KW-

2. On 27 July 2012, the Company has granted 317,000,000 share options 2. RIZE——F+tA-++tH AQRABREBE-_ZT——F&
to the certain eligible persons under the 2011 Scheme, 284,000,000 of BRETAEKRLEAR 317,000,000 B AE -
which were accepted by the grantees thereof. 284,000,00017 B BEE # & A4 -

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT EEBEROAEBRS ZER

SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the R EXHEBEEN NRARIHEMMBARTRAEE

Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to REESLETRTHE BREARAEZAHEREAR

enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of Al E M E A AEE s RS EREEMER -

the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2013, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that the
following shareholders, other than a director or chief executive, had
notified the Company of relevant interests in the share capital of the
Company:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and
underlying shares in the Company

FERR

RIZ-=F=ZA=+t—HB BAQRFAREZEF KL
BRPIE3BHEREFEZTZRRECMAT T
JIRR(BEZHRETHRABRII) EMEARRAR
ERARARAS 2 HEER

REAFEREECOIBIEERREBAROZHA

Percentage of

Number of Number of the issued
issued ordinary underlying share capital
Name of shareholder Type of interest shares held shares held Total of the Company
RBEERT AN AR
BRREE/ £ BEEH ZERYA B8 B st BERITREABIL
Chan How Chung, Victor Beneficial owner/interest of 918,147,585 433,526,011 1,351,673,596 35.58%
BRZiE controlled corporation (Note 1)
ERBBA/RELEER (Hizt1)
Mega Market Assets Limited ~ Beneficial owner 665,097,585 433,526,011 1,098,623,596 28.92%
ERERA (Note 2)
(Hiz2)
Notes: oz

1. Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor had a personal interest in 157,550,000
shares, and is taken to be interested in (i) 665,097,585 shares and
433,526,011 underlying shares of the Company held by Mega Market
Assets Limited; and (ii) 95,500,000 shares held by Kingly Profits
Corporation. Kingly Profits Corporation is wholly owned by Smart Ease
Corporation, which in turn, is wholly owned by Mr. Chan.

2. Mega Market Assets Limited was interested in 665,097,585 shares
and 433,526,011 underlying shares of the Company derived from the
convertible note in the principal amount of HK$105,000,000 issued by
the Company at an adjusted conversion price of HK$0.2422 per share.
Mega Market Assets Limited is beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Chan
How Chung, Victor. These interests have been included in the interests
held by Mr. Chan disclosed in this section.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March 2013.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

On 13 March 2013, Mega Market Assets Limited (“Mega Market”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company and beneficially wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor (“Mr. Chan”), placed
420,000,000 existing ordinary shares of the Company to certain
independent third parties, at a price of HK$0.097 per share (the
“Placing”) and Mega Market subscribed for 420,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.097 per share on 21 March
2013 (the “Top-up Subscription”). Details of which are set out in
the Company's announcements dated 13 March 2013 and 21 March
2013 respectively.

By virtue of Mr. Chan being a connected person of the Company,
Mega Market as beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Chan, is also a
connected person of the Company. The transactions contemplated
under the Placing and the Top-up Subscription constituted exempted
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

In October 2011, the Company issued the 1% unsecured convertible
note to Mega Market with principal amount of HK$105,000,000 in a
term of 3 years (the “Convertible Note"”). The issue of the Convertible
Note and the transactions contemplated thereunder constituted non-
exempt connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of the transactions are set out in the Company’s 2012
Annual Report.

Particular of other transactions with related parties of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2013 are set out in note 40 to the
financial statements. Those transactions were exempted connected
transactions for the Company or did not fall under the definition
of “connect transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election and re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract, which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the financial
statements, no other contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers were less than 64% of the Group’s turnover for
the year. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 78% of the total purchases for the year and
purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to
approximately 28%.

None of the directors, or any of their associates or any other
shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the directors, owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest suppliers during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Board, as authorized by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to

directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in note
32 to the financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 19 to 30.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 March 2013.

AUDITOR

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for re-appointment of Ting Ho Kwan &
Chan as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B RS

TING HO KWAN & CHAN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

9th Floor, Tung Ning Building
249-253 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAMMA GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Gamma Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 155, which comprise the
consolidated and the Company balance sheets as at 31 March 2013,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 March 2013 and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Hong Kong, 21 June 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement

AWK

For the year ended 31 March 2013

=

ECT=F-A=t+—HIHFE

As restated

&5
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
NOTES HK$000 HK$°000
Bt i FEx FET
Turnover LR 7 48,523 26,726
Other revenue and gains, net HEa g A Rz - F58 7 8,644 22,590
57,167 49,316
Cost of sales 885 AR A 9 (52,329) (30,957)
Impairment loss on intangible EmREEZREER
asset 19 (82,346) -
Administrative expenses THE R (91,054) (69,609)
Loss from operations EiEFBIE (168,562) (51,250)
Finance costs &l & AR 8 (48,289) (14,232)
Loss before taxation B B Al B 18 9 (216,851) (65,482)
Taxation i1 11 2,409 958
Loss for the year rEEFE (214,442) (64,524)
Loss attributable to: DT ATEAEE:
Equity shareholders of ZAN/NEIR Ead 3
the Company 12 (143,475) (56,198)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 1 2 (70,967) (8,326)
(214,442) (64,524)
Loss per share for loss AAREERREGEEZ
attributable to equity SREE
shareholders of the Company 14
Basic and diluted ERRES (4.23) centsfl (1.76) centsfll
The notes on pages 50 to 155 are an integral part of these BN ESOREIS5B 2 WA R FHGEEMBRET 2 —
consolidated financial statements. Bt o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ez EKkE R

For the year ended 31 March 2013  #

E-F-=H=ASt-ALEE

2013 2012
—E—= —T——fF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
B iE FHET FET
Loss for the year EEERHE (214,442) (64,524)
Other comprehensive Ht2mE (X))
(expense)/income:
Exchange differences — net PE N =58 — 1B N HEFE
movement in exchange reserve 13 (604) 3,204
Total comprehensive expense AFEEE2ES HBE
for the year (215,046) (61,320)
Attributable to: BT AL 4
Equity shareholders of RQ AR
the Company (144,374) (52,709)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR B 2 (70,672) (8,611)
Total comprehensive expense AEEE2EX HBHE
for the year (215,046) (61,320)
The notes on pages 50 to 155 are an integral part of these BHNESOEEIS5B 2 WF R FHLEEMBRE 2 —
consolidated financial statements. B fn o

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =44 43



Consolidated Balance Sheet

REEEREBX

At 31 March 2013 R=T—=%#=A=+—H

2013 2012
—EB—=F —T—_4F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$ 000
Kt FET FET
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E kB 16 26,875 141,156
Land use rights T e A2 17 11,711 17,627
Goodwill EES 18 23,592 195,129
Intangible asset mEEE 19 - 533,785
62,178 887,697
Current Assets RBEE
Inventories A 21 - 44,599
Properties under development ERPYE 22 - 43,777
Trade and other receivables EWE S Kk E A BRIE 23 57,333 42,645
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFAEBERZESREE
through profit or loss 24 38,845 39,606
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEEE 25 56,437 18,774
152,615 189,401
Assets classified as held for sale DERFIELECEE 15 735,204 =
887,819 189,401
Current Liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables & 5 & H i BRIH 26 37,405 165,134
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE 28 - 9,864
37,405 174,998
Liabilities directly associated HEABARKIEEEZ
with the assets classified EEBERNEBEZAE
as held for sale 15 538,063 -
575,468 174,998
Net Current Assets BB EFE 312,351 14,403
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

REEEREBER (&)

At 31 March 2013 R=ZT—=%=A=+—H

2013 2012
—E—= —T——fF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
B iE FET FET
Non-Current Liabilities EREBEE
Amount due to a non- JE ASF B /B8 2 ) 3 122 iR A% 3R 5k 18
controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary 27 21,162 20,330
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 66,667 424,850
Convertible note AR E R 29 94,823 88,848
Deferred taxation IR IE T 18 30 1,323 7,659
183,975 541,687
Net Assets BEEFE 190,554 360,413
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves AT ERE R RES
attributable to ERRGHE:
the equity shareholders
of the Company:
Share capital & A 37 37,987 33,737
Reserves ff# 46 (26,037) 77,400
11,950 111,137
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 2 178,604 249,276
Total Equity DB 190,554 360,413
The financial statements on pages 42 to 155 were approved and EEeE RN 2 —=F A+ —BH#ERBERE
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2013 and FARREFISSAECHBHRE THATATRERES
are signed on its behalf by: HEZ:
Wong King Shiu, Daniel Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
BERK BB
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EZE EZE
The notes on pages 50 to 155 are an integral part of these ;R FESOREIS5B 2 WAL FLREMBERERZ —
consolidated financial statements. D o

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =44 4 5



Balance Sheet

EERBR

At 31 March 2013 R=T—=%#=A=+—H

2013 2012
—E—=fF —_F—=

NOTES HK$'000 HK$°000
Kt FET FET

Non-current Assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WE K& 16 104 139
Investments in subsidiaries RBARZEE 20 68,868 250,925
68,972 251,064

Current Assets RBEE
Other receivables H fth fE U AR 18 23 11 72
Cash and cash equivalents BHe R4 EEEE 25 53,212 6,611
53,323 6,683
Current Liabilities RBAE

Other payables H b fE T BRIE 26 6,626 8,348
Net Current Assets (Liabilities) FREEE (&E)FE 46,697 (1,665)

Non-current Liabilities kRBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESH BT B A B A 20 - 55,277
Convertible note GEY e 29 94,823 88,848
94,823 144,125
Net Assets EEFE 20,846 105,274

Capital and Reserves BEAXR G
Share capital [N 31 37,987 33,737
Reserves #1E 33 (17,141) 71,537
Total Equity DB 20,846 105,274

Wong King Shiu, Daniel

BRI

DIRECTOR

EBEF

The notes on pages 50 to 155 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RMEERE D X

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARERREL
Share Capital ~ Convertible Share Non-
Share  premium  redemption note options  Exchange Special  Contributed Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve surplus losses Total interests Total
Rt E4EE TEREE BRE
Bx BER B i BF EXBFE RERR  HABR  RIER 8% FERER 45
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET AT AT AT AT TAT TET FAT FET FET
Balance at 1 April 2011 RZF-—ENA-RAz&H 29,557 605,539 13,878 - 11,156 6,625 78,176 684,966 (1,329,591) 100,306 4836 105,142
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - - - (56,198)  (56,198) (8326)  (64.524)
Other comprehensive income Eh2EhE - - - - - 3,489 - - - 3,489 (285) 3,204
Acquistion of subsidiaries KEHBAR - - - - - - - - - - 253,051 253,01
Exercise of share options PR RE 4,180 50,558 - - 9,550) - - - - 45,188 - 45,188
Convertible note - equity component, TARZE-ERIH-
net of transaction costs BRRSHE = 5 = 18352 = = o o o 18,352 = 18352
Balance at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 £=A=1+-BR
“E-CEMA-RZER 33731 656,097 13,878 18,352 1,606 10,114 78,176 684,966  (1,385,789) 111,137 249,276 360,413
Loss for the year TEEER = = = = = = = - (143475 (143475)  (70,967)  (214442)
Other comprehensive expense E2ERL - - - - - (899) - - - (899) 295 (604)
Issue of shares ki 4,200 35,875 - - - - - - - 40,075 - 40,075
Share options granted RHERE - - - - 453) - - B - 4532 = 4532
Exercise of share options TieBRE 50 664 - - (134) - - - - 580 - 580
Transfer on lapse of share options BREANEER - - - - (1472) = = = 1472 = = =
Balance at 31 March 2013 R-B-Z£ZA=t-A2
£ 37,981 692,636 13,878 18,352 4532 9,215 18,176 684,966  (1,527,792) 11,950 178,604 190,554

The notes on pages 50 to 155 are

consolidated financial statements.

an integral part of these

BNEBES0EF 5B ZMERBEFHEAFBRRZ —
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

As restated

=l
2013 2012
—EB—=F —T——fF
NOTES HK$000 HK$000
Bt FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES & SE )
Loss from operations EIEEE (168,562) (51,250)
Adjustments for: KTHEE
Interest income FEMKA 7 (34) (27)
Dividend income A B A 7 (782) (249)
Depreciation and amortisation M BE &R ETT & K
of property, plant and
equipment 9 13,146 6,147
Amortisation of land use rights o b {55 PR A 8 9 598 508
Amortisation of intangible asset EREESH 9 50,364 13,537
Loss on disposal of property, HEVME BEREKEZER
plant and equipment 9 - 1
Impairment loss on intangible EREEZREEE
asset 82,346 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A A s 7 (1,656) =
Net unrealised losses (gains) on BAFEFAEGZZEHEEZ
financial assets at fair value REREE (Wa) F5E
through profit or loss 7 6,201 (9,486)
Share-based payment LARR 9 R E 8 2 5Kk 4,532 -
Exchange differences X =5 (534) (1,136)
Operating cash outflows before “EESBE AT 2 K&
movements in working B &7
capital (14,381) (41,955)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories fFE&ERm A (M) 7,743 (12,795)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FEWE 5 R E BRI () 54
other receivables (30,976) 5,190
Increase in financial assets at fair R FEF ABm 2SR E EE N
value through profit or loss (5,440) (24,598)
Decrease in properties held for RIELHEMER D
sale 9,021 24,717
Decrease in trade and other FE T B 5 K HAih AR TE R
payables (30) (49,716)
Cash used in operation RETEMARS (34,063) (99,157)
PRC tax paid BT BB (1,038) (1,976)
Net cash used in operating RETHFMARESERE
activities (35,101) (101,133)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
mERERER (HF)

E-F-=F=A=St-ALEE

For the year ended 31 March 2013  #

£=—=

As restated

K E7
2013 2012
T =4 —_E——F
NOTES HK$000 HK$000
Bt i FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received =R &N 7 34 27
Dividend received BB A 7 782 249
Payment for the purchase of BEWME WERZRBZHR
property, plant and equipment 16 (10,671) (5,176)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g bl =SNG 34 - (468,478)
Addition of properties under AREBRTYME
development 22 (25) (276)
Proceeds from disposal of HENB AR ZFsHRIE
subsidiaries 35 42,837 -
Proceeds from disposal of HEME BB REEZSERIE
property, plant and equipment - 268
Net cash generated from/ REZHHMEB,/ (FTRA)RELFE
(used in) investing activities 32,957 (473,386)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & E B
Proceeds on exercise of share TR 2 TS RIE
options 580 45,188
New other borrowings raised FIEEMEE - 424,850
Net proceeds from issue of BT A AR IR 2 P18 SR IBF 58
convertible note - 104,630
Proceeds on issue of shares BTG, Z P13 5KI8 40,075 =
Advance from/(repayment to) a kA (EE)HE AR
non-controlling shareholder of I 122 AR IR R B R
a subsidiary 832 (497)
New bank borrowing raised FILRITEE 9,877 =
Repayment of bank borrowing BERITEE (9,876) -
Interest paid 2 E (1,490) (1,067)
Net cash generated from RETBMEELFEE
financing activities 39,998 573,104
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) RERAEEHER
IN CASH AND CASH #h ORd) FE
EQUIVALENTS 37,854 (1,415)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS S#{zRERBEEHEEH
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 18,774 19,757
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ER#FH &%
RATE CHANGES 10 432
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS H#&vHRERBEZHEIEH
AT END OF THE YEAR 25 56,638 18,774

The notes on pages 50 to 155 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

)

%W KK

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

50

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The registered
office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business of the Group is located at Suite 2602, 26/F., Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
43.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"), which also include Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations (“Int”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for certain financial assets
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 5.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZFT—=F=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group as

follows:

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures
— Transfers of financial assets

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income taxes — Deferred tax:
Recovery of underlying assets

Note 4 summarise the accounting policies of the Group. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require certain disclosures to be
included in the financial statements in respect of transferred
financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety and
for any continuing involvement in transferred financial assets
that are derecognised in their entirety, irrespective of when the
related transfer transaction occurred. However, an entity need
not provide the disclosures for the comparative period in the
first year of adoption. The Group did not have any significant
transfers of financial assets in previous periods or the current
period which require disclosure in the current accounting period

under the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes

Under HKAS 12 deferred tax is required to be measured
with reference to the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the entity expects to recover the
carrying amount of the asset(s) in question. In this regard, the
amendments to HKAS 12 introduced a rebuttable presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property carried at fair
value under HKAS 40, Investment Property, will be recovered
through sale. This presumption is rebutted on a property-
by-property basis if the investment property in question is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale. The amendment has had no material impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

3. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 3.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2013

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2013 and which have not been early adopted

BE-—FE—="F=A=+—RHLEECHEMH
BRERZERT FHEARBEBZ IS

BENEVBRRTERS SESHMAE
ERMETER HEAERE EREBE-F
—=F=ZRA=T - HLEFERAER B R
FRUELF B wMER AR

in these financial statements.

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RUTBEHRZ#%
Mzt HBEN

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Presentation of
items of other comprehensive income

Amendments to HKAS 32, Financial instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12, Consolidated financial statements,
Joint arrangements and Disclosure of
interests in other entities: Transition guidance

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011), Investment entities

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7,
Mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9 and
Transition disclosures

HKAS 19 (2011), Employee benefits

HKAS 27 (2011), Separate financial statements

HKAS 28 (2011), Investments in associates and
joint ventures

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement

HK(IFRIC) — Int 20, Stripping costs in the
production phase of a surface mine
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2013 (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of

what the impact of these amendments, new standards and

new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial

application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them

is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group's results of

operations and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 March.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Controls
exist when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into
account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_T—=F=A=+—HItFE

4.

54

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with Note
4(0) or 4(p) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(0

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 4(h))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see
Note 4(l)), unless the investment is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). The results of the subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivables.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(ii)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

56

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9]

(d)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see Note 4(1)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of the purchased goodwill is included
in the calculation of profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable. Capitalised development costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and
impairment losses. Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. Technical know-how for
separation of rare resources concentrates is amortised from
the date it is available for use and its estimated useful life
is 10 years.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZFT—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of
any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign
currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their residual value, if
any, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives

as follows:

Leasehold buildings 20 years
Leasehold land and buildings 30 years
Leasehold improvements 2 years
Plant and machinery 3 - 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 10 years

Construction in progress represents buildings, structures,
plant and machinery and other fixed assets under
construction or installation and is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises direct costs of construction, installation and
testing as well as capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction or
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or
investment properties when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

58

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values (if any) and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. The gain or loss on derecognition of the asset,
calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item, is included
in profit or loss in the period the item is derecognised.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Land use rights

Land use rights are lump sum upfront payments to acquire
long-term interest in lessee-occupied properties. Land use
rights relating to buildings of the Group are stated at cost
and are amortised over the period of the lease on the
straight-line basis to profit or loss.

Leases

(i) Operating lease (both as the lessee or the lessor)
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Where the Group is the
lessee, payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are expensed
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZFT—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Leases (continued)
(ii) Finance lease (as the lessee)

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially

obtained all the risks and rewards of ownership

are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on
the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in current and non-current obligation under
a finance lease. The interest element of the finance
cost is recognised in profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. The investment properties acquired
under finance leases are carried at their fair value,
while the property, plant and equipment acquired
under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter
of the useful lives of the assets or the lease terms.

Financial assets

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date when the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired, such as
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment in an equity investment below its costs.
Financial assets other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities are further
categorised into the following classifications for the

measurement after initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

60

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

0}

Financial assets (continued)

()

(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss included in current assets and are stated in
the balance sheet at fair value. A financial asset is
classified in this category, if acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless
they are designated as hedges. Any attributable
transaction costs and gain or loss on the fair value
changes of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. They arise when the Group
provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor
with no intention of trading the receivable. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the balance sheet
date which are classified as non-current assets. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise “Trade and
other receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents”
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Inventories

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and

net realisable value. Cost includes the acquisition cost,

architect’s fees and other direct costs attributable to such

properties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i)

G

Inventories (continued)

Rare resources and building materials

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all cost of purchase,
cost of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated
sale proceeds less estimated selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an

expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to estimated sale proceeds of the
properties sold in the ordinary course of business less costs
to complete development and estimated selling expenses.

Development cost of properties comprises land use rights,
construction costs, borrowing costs and professional fees
as incurred during the development period. On completion,
all development costs of the properties are transferred to
completed properties held for sale as inventories.

4. FEEFTBREHE(H)

(i)

()

78 (&)

HEERREENH
FERRARATERFEZBREE K-
RAE R IEFARARRGE  BEME
BERA BHBREARGEREDR AW
KRB B2 E MRS - A] B IR FE R B
BHHEMSFIRBAF HEREE -

i 77 & 4% 65 - B BR T B8 20 #E 2R AR B MK
A B[ 7 32 7% B 52 - OB (E ] 77 & = A &
BFERMAEFEERZ KA MR E
BELHHEERAFX - ERAFEHRZ
EREERIBRRER/FERERD  R&
Bl 7 & R AR R X -

R GiEIES
RERYEARERA SR FEMRE TR
BENR-ATERFED2EYENREE
EB/EP B E 2 fhEt & ABRIAR T
PR B 2 AR B il v S R SR E ©

W2 R BIE T AR K
K EBERAERERHELECEXER -
MNERE - MEZMERERABREESR
FHEZE RN DEERTR -

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =545 6 1



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

62

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(k) Trade and other receivables

(0

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and, after initial recognition, at amortised cost less
any allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful debts,
except for the following receivables:

- interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting being immaterial, that are measured at
cost less any allowance for impairment of bad and
doubtful debts; and

- short-term receivables with no stated interest rate
and the effect of discounting being immaterial, that
are measured at their original invoiced amount less
any allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful
debts.

Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables
Investment in equity securities and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale
securities are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about one or more of the following loss

events:

-  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the fair

value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESTBERBE (&)
(continued)
(I) Impairment of assets (continued) () EEREE)
(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities (i) BREZFKREREMEKFKE#EE
and other receivables (continued) (#&)

MEEFLRERFE B @EEE
AR E BB R IA T 77 AR

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For investments in subsidiaries, the impairment
loss is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying
amount in accordance with Note 4(I)(ii). The
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount in
accordance with Note 4(l)(ii).

For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for equity securities are not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised
cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

64

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)
If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised

in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment losses
recognised in respect of trade debtors included within
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the allowance for
impairment of bad and doubtful debts are recorded using
an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors and bills receivable
directly and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes
in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
()  Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

- pre-paid interests in land use rights classified as
being held under an operating lease;

- intangible assets; and

= goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash flows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. cash-generating
unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

66

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(0

Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating units (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’'s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U

Impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes

4(1)(1) and (ii).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill and intangible asset carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been assessed
only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital (Treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity shareholders until the shares are
cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the Company’s equity shareholders.

4. FEEFTBREHE(H)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

68

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities (if any)
measured in accordance with Note 4(t)(i), trade and other
payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost except
for the following payables:

—  short-term payables with no stated interest rate and
the effect of discounting being immaterial, that are
measured at their original invoiced amount; and

- interest-free loans from related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting
being immaterial, that are measured at cost.

Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Transaction
costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or
financial liability, including fees and commissions paid to
agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes
and duties. Bank and other borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the balance sheet date.

Convertible note
Convertible note which contain an equity component are
accounted for as follows:

Convertible note that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(r)

Convertible note (continued)

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible note is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in

proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using
the effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible note reserve until either the
note is converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the convertible note reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to
share capital and share premium as consideration for the
shares issued. If the note is redeemed, the convertible note

reserve is released directly to accumulated losses.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

70

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future. The amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

72

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(s) Employee benefits
(i)  Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution plans under
the mandatory provident fund scheme and state-
managed retirement benefits scheme are charged as
expenses as they fall due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received is determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve). At the balance sheet
date, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve. For share options that are vested at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities

(1)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payment
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

74

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)

()

(i1)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group's policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of
any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note (iii) below
if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder
of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee and (ii) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee, i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Contingent liabilities acquired in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a business
combination are initially recognised at fair value,
provided the fair value can be reliably measured.
After their initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that
would be determined in accordance with note (iii)
below. Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued are
disclosed in accordance with note (iii) below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

(u)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)

(iii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable. Revenue excludes value added and

business taxes, and is after deduction of trade discounts, if

any.

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow

to the Group and the revenue and the costs, if applicable,

can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or

loss as follows:

(1)

(ii)

Revenue arising from rare resources is recognised
when the Group has transferred to the customer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods.

Revenue arising from gamma ray irradiation services
is recognised in the accounting period in which the

services are rendered.
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4.

76

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when
the Group has delivered the relevant properties to the
purchaser and the collectability of related receivable
is reasonably assured.

When the renovation services are provided and the
outcome of the renovation project can be estimated
reliably, renovation service income is recognised on
the percentage of completion method measured by
reference to the value of work carried out during
the year. When the outcome of a renovation project
cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of the project costs incurred that it
is probable will be recoverable.

Sales of building materials are recognised when they
are delivered and title has passed.

Realised gain or loss on investments held for trading
is recognised on a trade date basis whilst unrealised
gain or loss on investments held for trading is
recognised to restate to their fair value on the
balance sheet date.

(viii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

(ix)

effective interest method.

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the Group's rights to receive payment have
been established prior to the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(u) Revenue recognition (continued)
(x) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance
sheet initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(v) Foreign currencies translation
(i)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except
those arising from foreign currency borrowings used
to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation

which are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE-_T—=F=A=+—HItFE

4.

78

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Foreign currencies translation (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
items, such as equities classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in

equity in the fair value reserve.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each financial
statements are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

() all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Foreign currencies translation (continued)
(iii)) Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in
exchange reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified from equity
to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is

recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the year-end closing rate.

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted

from the borrowing costs capitalised.
Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—T—=F=A=+—HILFE

4.

80

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence,

or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with

the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y)

(2)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held
for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount
will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use and the asset (or disposal group)
is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal
group is a group of assets to be disposed of together
as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly
associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction. When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the above criteria for classification as held for sale
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

4.

82

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(z) Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to
this measurement policy so far as the financial statements
of the Group and the Company are concerned are
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be
measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere
in Note 4.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset
is classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current
asset is not depreciated or amortised.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(@)

(i)

(iii)

Allowance for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group makes allowance for impairment of bad
and doubtful debts based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables. Allowances
are applied to trade and other receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of impairment
of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact carrying value
of receivables and allowances for impairment losses in the

period in which such estimate has been changed.

Estimation of impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 4(l).
generating units have been determined based on value

The recoverable amounts of cash-

in use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 18).

Amortisation and impairment of intangible asset
Intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over
its estimated useful lives in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 4(d). The determination of the useful
lives involves management’s estimation. The Group re-
assesses the useful life of the intangible asset and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such a
difference may impact the amount of amortisation charged
to consolidated income statement during the year and the
estimate will be changed in the future period.
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5.

84

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(iii) Amortisation and impairment of intangible asset

(iv)

(continued)

The Group tests whether intangible asset which has finite
useful live has suffered any impairment whenever there
is any indication that the asset may have been impaired.
The recoverable amount of the intangible asset has been
determined based on the higher of its (i) value in use,
which have been estimated using discounted cash flow
method, and (ii) fair value less costs to sell. Testing for
impairment requires significant subjective judgements
by management. Any changes in the estimates used
could have a material impact on the calculation of the
recoverable amount and result in an impairment charge. As
at 31 March 2013, an impairment loss of HK$81,840,000
was recognised in profit or loss and the intangible asset
was classified as assets held for sale, details are set out in
Note 15.

Income taxes

Deferred tax asset in relation to the unused tax losses of
approximately HK$256,292,000 (2012: HK$248,785,000)
was not recognised in the Group’s consolidated balance
sheet. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal takes place.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
expenses in the year in which such determination is made.
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(iv)
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PR 8B
ERADRANBEBRCEEHEEE
#1256,292,0008 L (=T — = F:
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(v) Land appreciation tax
The subsidiaries engaging in property business in the PRC
are subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC. However,
the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the
PRC and certain projects of the Group have not finalised
their land appreciation tax calculations and payments
with any local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly,
significant estimate is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related income tax provisions.
The Group recognised the land appreciation tax based on
management'’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and these differences will impact the income tax expense
and the related income tax provisions in the periods in
which such tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Business segments

For management purpose, the Group has three (2012: three)
principal lines of businesses namely (1) property business; (2)
gamma ray irradiation services; and (3) resources business which,
together with other operation, are organised into five (2012:
five) major operating divisions — (1) property development,
rental and sales; (2) trading of building materials and provision
of renovation services; (3) gamma ray irradiation services; (4)
rare resources; and (5) securities trading and investment. These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary
segment information.

Mgt b R (E)

(v) THiBEH
REAEBEREMEEL 2K B R RAHAD
B EN - AT B EERT AR
M REERAHMERINRBEZ LR
PrER MAKEZETHE HAEP
b 73 70 75 1 R A A T SE AT B S S Y b i
BERZAR Bt REETHIEESER
HAMMAEREERAIELEEN G- A
SEENERE 2 KIEMH#RLHIZE
HoRBMBAERLEFNNDNBINEZ
S O MRFEZBRZE R HEHKE
WBEZS NI HIEA 2 P55 X K48
RAFT1S LR -

7 ERE ¥

E3 Sk

HEEMS AEBEEE=R(ZFT——-F:=
BOZBED DR BWMEET: ()54
TR RQ)ERFER Mt =BEXHKERE
EBULIAAE(ZFT——F Af)ERE
BEN-—(1)DWEER BERHEE QEEMHY
85 REHERKERS Q)55 &R R
ABBER: URO)BHEERERE AKER
WEEDERMEZHAE R
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHREHR (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities DEEE BEERAR
An analysis of the Group's turnover, contribution to operating BREBOIBIMcAEBEXR KEXEER
results and segment assets and liabilities by business segments is Bl DEMEERBENT

presented as follows:

2013 —E—=F
Gamma ray
Irradiation Resources Other
Property business services business  operation
s
nEEH BiBE  KEEB e
Trading of
building
Property materials and
development,  provision of ~ Gamma ray Securities
rental and  renovation irradiation Rare trading and
sales services services resources investment  Unallocated Total
BEMH
NERR  E5REM VEEIES R5EHE
HER#E  #BRE  RIEE  HEER k& AR a3t

HKS000  HKSO00  HKS00O  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS00O  HKS000
FET FEx FET FET FET FET FET

INCOME STATEMENT S
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 BZ-%-=£&

ZA=T-ALEE
REVENUE 63
Turnover i1 8,018 28 5,941 34,536 - - 48,523
Segment results AHEE (2,185) (774) (2,515) (152,072) 3,076 - (154,470)
Unallocated corporate expenses RABAARX (14,09)
Loss from operations EEFR (168,562)
Finance costs MERK (48,289)
Loss before taxation REAER (216,851)
Taxation BE 2,409
Loss before non-controlling interests B3 i RER A B 18 (214,442)
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) ITHEE EEREE(E)
2013 (continued) —E-=F(#)
Gamma ray
Irradiation Resources Other
Property business services business  operation
%5 5 &
NEER R 0% ERER EfES
Trading of
building
Property materials and
development,  provision of ~ Gamma ray Securities
rental and  renovation irradiation Rare  trading and
sales services services resources  investment  Unallocated Total
BEMH
NERE  EIRE# 135 5 & #HEE
HERHE EERE R R% REER kiRE KA @5t
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
AT TEx AT AT TEx FET FEx
BALANCE SHEET EEGER
AT 31 MARCH 2013 RZE-Z%#=8=1-H
ASSETS BE
Segment assets AHEE 11,817 156 64,421 - 38,845 - 115,239
Assets classified as held for sale PEABELECEE
(Note 13) (Hit15) - - - 735,204 - - 735,204
Unallocated corporate assets KABAAEE 99,554
Consolidated total assets GREELE 949,997
LIABILITIES 8f
Segment liabilities AHEE 26,759 17 10,080 151,763 4,774 - 193,393
Liabilities classified as held forsale ~ SEBEAEHEZEE
(Note 15) (F#15) - - - 538,063 - - 538,063
Unallocated corporate liabilities KABATERE 27,987
Consolidated total liabilities GREREE 759,443
OTHER INFORMATION HitER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 BZ=Z-=%
ZA=T-ALEE
Impairment loss on intangible asset ~ EFEEZREFE - - - 82,346 - = 82,346
Capital additions Bg 1,618 - 1 9,025 - 2 10,671
Depreciation and amortisation HERBH 1,158 6 4,822 57,991 - 131 64,108
Net unrealised losses on financial RAYEFHABEL
assets at fair value through profitor ~ SBEEZXBE
loss FRFE - - - - 6,201 - 6,201
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. IWER(B)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) ITHEE - EEREE(E)
2012 —E——
Gamma ray
Irradiation Resources Other
Property business services business operation
BT IES
ES S R R BRER EtE%
Trading of
building
Property  materials and
development,  provision of  Gamma ray Securities
rentaland ~ renovation irradiation Rare trading and
sales services services resources investment  Unallocated Total
BEIH
NEEE  BSRRHE g EHEE
HERHE KERB RitkE  REER Ri&& AR &zt

HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT

INCOME STATEMENT W%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012  BZ-E——%#

ZA=t-HLEE
REVENUE 6t
Turnover 2ED 16,450 866 9,404 6 - - 26,726
Segment results (restated) PEELE (LE5]) (6,345) (392) 1,080 (25,787) 14,999 = (16,445)
Unallocated other operating income APREMEERA 3
Unallocated corporate expenses AARAART (34,808)
Loss from operations (restated) EBEE (KE5) (51,250)
Finance costs RERA (14,232)
Loss before taxation RHABE (65,482)
Taxation (restated) Fis (=5) 958
Loss before non-controlling interests MR EERERFEE (64,524)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) PHMEB - BEERAEEB (B)
2012 (continued) —T——F (&)
(Gamma ray
Irradiation Resources Other
Property business services business operation
B4
NEEH R BREH Eth 5
Trading of
building
Property  materials and
development,  provision of  Gamma ray Securities
rentaland ~ renovation irradiation Rare trading and
sales services services resources investment  Unallocated Total
BEMH
NERR  BAREM M5 EHEE
RERHEE ZBRH% Ra % BEAR k&E AR @t
HK$000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000
&7 FAT FET AT FAT FET AT
BALANCE SHEET BEARR
AT 31 MARCH 2012 RZE-Z5ZA=1-H
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PBEE 64,589 506 69,002 875,363 39,972 - 1,049,432
Unallocated corporate assets AARDAEE 27,666
Consolidated total assets GREELE 1,077,098
LIABILITIES af
Segment liabilities ABERE 35,776 420 9,965 638,180 123 = 684,464
Unallocated corporate liabilities FARAABE 32,21
Consolidated total liabilities nABEAR 716,685
OTHER INFORMATION AR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012  HZ-Z——%
=A=+—-HIEE
Addition to goodwill MEEE - - - 171,536 - - 171,536
Intangible asset BRAE - - - 547,472 - - 547,472
Capital additions b 543 - 50 4514 - 69 5,176
Depreciation and amortisation REREH 73 7 4701 15,102 - 309 20,192
Net unrealised gains on financial assets ~ KATFEFABHEZ
at fair value through profit or loss SHEERER
Mg - - - - 9,486 - 9,486

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from

external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during

the year (2012: HK$Nil).

EXrEHRc WEERBINBER 2 et - A
FEIES>BHEBEE(ZE—ZF:THBx) -
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90

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Segment results represents the profit (loss) earned or incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs including directors’ salaries, investment and other income,
finance costs, and income tax expense. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes

of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
current and deferred tax assets. Goodwill is allocated
to reportable segments as described in Note 18. Assets
used jointly by segments are allocated on the basis of the
revenues earned by individual segments; and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain borrowings and current and deferred tax
liabilities. Liabilities for which segments are jointly liable
are allocated in proportion to segment assets.

Geographical segments

All of the Group’s operations are principally located in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Group's administration is carried out in Hong Kong.

An analysis of the Group's turnover by geographical market,
irrespective of the origin of the goods and services, is presented

DERER ()
THESE BEREE(H)
DMEBREERDETFATRER (BERESH

£ REREMKA BE KA KPS
CHEDHARBREE AN (BER) - kR
HIEM%& REZMUEB RS B R HS
BRI Z T &

Z H

REEDHBRALENHBEOEERT 5

- MAEEBOSEZRRD AP (MERHKE
Lﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ?’i\\) BT DB EM 18T
MzBRBOE-ZTHBRARAERZEET
RAZ{E R 2 B AT RER 2 a8 T LA BE - &2

H 2

—

- MAEREHOIEERROA (EETEES
RABRIELERIBRERS) - &0 BER

EEZABRIREBEDEEZLH T IAD
B e

& 2 3B
FEBRBEEBETEMNBEERTEARLN
(THE)) ANEBZTRIEREELET

AEBERWRMIHE Dz EEE (TwmEmKIR
BHRIRHE) ST

below:
2013 2012
—E—=F —E—_fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Hong Kong BB 28 866
The PRC i 48,495 25,860
48,523 26,726
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER(F)

Geographical segments (continued) hEDEH (E)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment REEMEMED 2D HEEREEARIIERS
assets, and additions to goodwill, intangible asset and property, B BYEERYE BERIZHBZOMMOT :

plant and equipment, analysed by the geographical area in
which the assets are located:

Additions to goodwill,

Carrying amount intangible asset and property,
of segment assets plant and equipment
HEEE BVEER
SHEEREE ME BRERRE
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-= —E—_—F —E-= —E—_F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Hong Kong &5 128,735 59,832 27 38
The PRC HE 821,262 1,017,266 10,644 724,146
949,997 1,077,098 10,671 724,184
Information about major customers EBREEEFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing RERBEFEGHBRABI0O%NZERS ZBWA
over 10% of the total revenue are as follows: T
2013 2012
—T =4 —E——4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Customer A’ BE R 9,361 -
Customer B2 BE 2 5,865 -
Customer C’ EEA 5,540 =
Customer D’ ®PT! 5,308 =
Customer E? 2R K? - 2,835
1 Revenue from rare resources g KE#EEREZJA
2 Revenue from properties held for sale z KEFHELHEYEZ KA
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92

TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS, NET 7.
Turnover represents the aggregate of the net amounts received
and receivable from third parties during the year. An analysis of

EXE HtWARWE FHE
EXBIEFNEE =T ERRERERRFE LR
B-AEBEZFRNERR HRARNKE F8R

the Group’s turnover, other revenue and gains, net for the year ST
is as follows:
2013 2012
—EB—=F =B==
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Turnover BER
Rare resources maER 34,536 6
Gamma ray irradiation services income 10035 57 4% 58 57 AR 75 U A 5,941 9,404
Sale proceeds from properties held for sale HE&FIEHEMERT 8,014 16,179
Rental income from properties YIRS WA 4 271
Renovation services =& RS 18 161
Trading of building materials BEMBE S 10 705
48,523 26,726
Other revenue and gains, net Hitw AR Kz F8
Interest income on financial assets not at WIER A FEFARERZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEZMEWKA 34 27
Dividend income from listed investments A ZREHBA 782 249
Net realised gains on financial assets at fair EAFEFABZZEHEEL
value through profit or loss B3R % )F 58 8,505 5,275
Net unrealised (losses) gains on financial BAVEFAEG EREEL
assets at fair value through profit or loss RNER (BE) K= F5E (6,201) 9,486
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HENB AR WS (#iE35) 1,656 =
Bad debts recovered AR [al - 5,114
Reversal of allowance for impairment of BEEWE S RERERE F8
trade receivables, net (Note 23) (Hi#23) - 192
Government grants (Note) BT 8B (H7aE) 3,704 =
Exchange gain PE 4 U 2 - 1,152
Sundry income MIEA 164 1,095
8,644 22,590
57,167 49,316
Gross proceeds from securities trading BHEEZMSRIEERE 70,094 98,389

Note.: The government grants represented the amounts received from the
local government by a subsidiary of the Group for rare resources

technology innovation and improvement. All specific conditions

have been fulfilled (if any).
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For the year ended 31 M

BB RKE (&)

arch 2013 BEZZ—=F=A=+—HLFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMXK
2013 2012
—E—=F —EF——F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on: F2
Bank borrowing wholly repayable within BARAFAZHEEEZ
five years RITEE 766 797
Other borrowings wholly repayable within BARAFAZEEEZ
five years HiEE 40,491 10,387
Convertible note (Note 29) R EE (Ha29) 7,025 3,048
Other HAh 7 =
Total interest expense on financial liabilities I IFIR A FEF A BZE 2
not at fair value through profit or loss LRABBEZANBETH 48,289 14,232
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 0. BEIHEE
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ BRBATEERING (St A) TFHEBEEY
(crediting):
2013 2012
—E—=F —F—_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Staff costs* 8 T A
— directors’ remuneration (Note 10) —EEME (Hat10) 1,155 979
— basic salaries and other benefits —EXFHe REMET 12,762 7,951
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — — 3R K48 # 51 2/ {4 3% 1,288 321
— share-based payments — AR B ER Z AR 4,532 -
19,737 9,251
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 2R B 2
— current year —ARFE 1,344 1,177
— underprovision in prior year —-BEFERETR 200 -
Depreciation and amortisation of M- BB RHE
property, plant and equipment? e R 13,146 6,147
Amortisation of intangible asset E A EEH 50,364 13,537
Amortisation of land use rights o 3 (50 PR RE B8R 598 508
Exchange loss b i & 18 1,240 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEREREZERE
plant and equipment 1
Operating lease payments (Note 38) KERER K (A a238) 5,679 4,918
Cost of sales* & KA 52,329 30,957
Write-down of inventories 5 & #OR - 9,826
Rental income net of direct outgoings of HeWANBREESZ BT BT
HK$Nil (2012: HK$Nil) —E——F:ZT%x) (4) (271)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 &

ey

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

#

10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND HIGHEST PAID

Cost of sales includes HK$7,734,000 (2012: HK$4,632,000)
relating to staff costs and depreciation expenses, which amount is
also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately
above and other direct operating expenses of HK$2,985,000 (2012:

HK$1,109,000).

INDIVIDUALS" EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant

=F=ZA=t—HIEHFE

9. BRBAERE (H)

1,109,000/ ) °
10. EERESFMALTZME

(a) EEME

HERABIEEE TR ARKERNS BB
7,734,000/ T (=& — = 4F :4,632,000/% L) '
A EIGFA LS RES S EEFELRE
fth B B AE & F 52,985,000/8 0 (= F— =4 :

BEETRBREBDAROIE1611&RE

to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong BeAFEEEWNEMT :
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme 2013 2012
Directors’ fees allowances contributions Total Total
BAREH —E-=% T f
Name of Directors EEgR E=He FERER TEfR @it wat
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive Director YTES
Mr. Ho Chi Ho (Note a) AEREE (Hita) - - - - 258
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel (Note b) BRKEE (Hizb) = 540 15 555 121
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren BEEEE 120 - - 120 120
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor N 120 - - 120 120
Independent non-executive Directors BUKBTES
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BARELE 120 - - 120 120
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BERLE 120 - - 120 120
Mr. Hung Hing Man LB k. 120 - - 120 120
Total 2013 —E-ZFaE 600 540 15 1,155 979
Total 2012 —T-—FAR 600 372 7
Notes: Hiat -

(@)  Resigned on 13 January 2012

(b)  Appointed on 13 January 2012
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS” EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, one (2012: one) was director of the Company

10.

EENRBEFMALZME (B)

(b) BEHMAL
AEBLERRFMALRE-—R(ZF
——F:—R)ARAEF HMEHN L

whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of XoHEMpATZMESMT
the remaining individuals were as follows:
2013 2012
—EB—=f —ET——4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Salaries and other benefits e kHEMEF 2,644 1,721
Retirement benefits scheme R AKAE T 5T 8] 3R
contributions 51 31
2,695 1,752

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid individuals

were within the following range:

HAGRSHFMALTHME N FATHE:

2013 2012

—E—= —T——fF

Number of Number of

employees employees

ES A& 1ES A2

Up to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T LA A 4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the five highest paid individuals, including directors and
employees, as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors has waived any emoluments during the year.

FA AEEWERD S

REHMAL (R

REERER) XN MEAMARSE
B Bl A 0 A A 6% [ By 2 AR R SR B B4 ME o

FALEEEREEMME
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IR
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TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME 1. FERBERAZBHE
STATEMENT
As restated
KB
2013 2012
—E—=f —_ET——%F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Taxation in the consolidated income mEWREmERNZRIERE:
statement represents:
Current tax: & HAFRIE ¢
Corporate income tax PEER 143 433
PRC land appreciation tax A AR 895 1,448
1,038 1,881
Deferred tax (Note 30): EERTIE (K 2£30) ¢
Origination and reversal of TRE=EZEARRER
temporary differences (3,447) (2,839)
Taxation credit HIEE R (2,409) (958)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Company and
its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no assessable profits for
both years. Taxation for the PRC subsidiaries is charged at the

79 R 2 o

appropriate current rate of taxation ruling in the PRC.

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds on sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land use rights and all property development

expenditure.

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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For the year ended 31

TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME 11.

STATEMENT (continued)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the domestic taxation

rates applicable to losses of the consolidated companies as

follows:

REWFERAZBIE (E)

AEBEBRBABRZHRELEEBEAREE R
AEBRZA MR ERELZEREBE TR

BRAT :

As restated

=gl
2013 2012
—E—=F —T—_4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before taxation B %5 A1l B 18 (216,851) (65,482)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of hizzliiﬁzﬁﬁ i %&16.5%
16.5% (2012: 16.5%) T——%F 116.5%)
SFE 2 FIE (35,780) (10,805)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TT?WRF‘?@?ZZ%R%’K % B 44,576 15,155
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBMBAZ BB ZE (1,406) (2,354)
Tax effect of temporary differences not REERERZERERZ
recognised for the year i 7% = & (81) 23
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AEERERZRBERZ
for the year MBEE 3,189 1,196
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B ALAIAERZBHBERZ
previously unrecognised %8 - (2,418)
PRC land appreciation tax A b 3 E R 895 1,448
Tax effect of the PRC land appreciation tax 7 Bl £ # I8 E L 2 B 5 52 2 (224) (362)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries  fEH b FDAERZ % 2
operating in other jurisdictions MBARTRBER 2ZE (13,578) (2,841)
Taxation credit R E (2,409) (958)
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF 12. ARREZRRELER

THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company has

been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of HK$129,615,000 (2012: HK$34,055,000).

ARrE=REEGEESR129,615,000% T
(ZZT— 4 : 34,055,000/ 7T) R AR F B

WRARIE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

13. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/INCOME 13. Ht2m (X)) Ks
2013 2012
—EB—=F —T—_—fF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Exchange reserve: bE 5 1
Exchange differences on translation BMEBINNE AR BREKZ
of financial statements of overseas E & =5
subsidiaries 334 3,204
Reclassification adjustments: BN EAE:
— Realisation of exchange reserve on —HEM B A RREIE
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) b 5 (A7 aE35) (938) -
Net movement in the exchange reserve 7 E At 2 T UK %5 T AR
during the year recognised in FANEN FEEFE
other comprehensive income (604) 3,204
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss BREXEBEDIREBERARAIERRREMNF
for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company NE B 4143,475,0008 0 (- & — — & :
of approximately HK$143,475,000 (2012: approximately #4956,198,0008 L) R FNE ETERKR Z
HK$56,198,000) and on the weighted average number of hnAE T 19 803,389,106, 1478% (= F — — 4 :
3,389,106,147 (2012: 3,198,951,982) ordinary shares in issue 3,198,951,982% ) 5t & -

during the year.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 HEEE T =F=RA=+—HEKZ=ZZT—Z=
March 2013 and 31 March 2012 has not included the potential FZA=+T-BLEEzERESEERK &
effect of share options outstanding and the deemed conversion ARRTEERERITLREBRFGEEEHRA
of the convertible note into ordinary shares as they have an anti- TERCEEZE REAAHEHAFESRERE
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share for the year. BARBETE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Currently, the demand and price of rare earth products still
remain low. Given the uncertainty of the current rare earth
market, the Group started to rationalise the resources business
by considering the possibilities of restructuring the rare earth
refinery and processing business. Before the balance sheet
date, the Group made a plan to sell a group of subsidiaries
that engaged in the rare earth refinery and processing business
as if the assets value would be better reflected by such a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. The rare earth
refinery and processing business is mainly conducted through
EEZXFEHLEE AR AR (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth
Technology Company Limited), a 54% owned subsidiary of the
Group. The Group is actively seeking buyers for the rare earth
refinery and processing business and expects to complete the
sale in one year subject to commercial circumstances. Preliminary
discussions with potential buyers were on going and as at
the balance sheet date, negotiations for the sale were still in
progress and the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries were
classified as assets and liabilities held for sale.

The results of the assets/liabilities classified as held for sale (i.e.
rare earth refinery and processing business) that are included
in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of cash flows are shown as below.

15.

TEARFHEZEE &F

Bl MEIERZFBRLRERDAMED - ERR
Bt misRARAN AEERRZEEREER L
ARINTER 2w aelt LRBHERER - RN
HAA AKREHBELERZBIEE AL
EMRREEEZBERT HEZSFREB LR
MIEBZHMBRB -FBLARNIEBEEER
EFFRERLIRRERAR (KAEEEF4%
B MBEAR)ET AEEBREERRH L
RAMTEBSRKER BFHERR BHER—
FAZKBE ARERKEREEERETVS
A NEERREERDEET ZFHEBA
RAZEERABES D BRABKIFLEZEE
REf&E-

HAGARNERGARERBRZHAEAR
ez EE /B (BIHLRINT ) 60
mT e

2013 2012
—EB—=F —ET——4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FiE&T

Loss for the year from rare earth refinery MEARMITREAFEEIE:

and processing business:

Turnover =0 34,536 6
Other income Efb 4z A 3,716 =
Cost of sales $H & AR (37,843) (6)
Impairment loss on intangible asset EmEEEZRERSIE (82,346) _
Administrative expenses TE & A (68,081) (22,803)
Loss before taxation KRB A E 1B (150,018) (22,803)
Taxation I (1,507) -
Loss for the year REEEE (151,525) (22,803)
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15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

15. PERABEHEZEE BE(H)

2013 2012
—E—=F —E—_F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year from rare earth refinery MEARMIEBZAFEEE
and processing business has been arrived RANER T 58 B &5 -
at after charging the following:
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERRETE
equipment 7,516 1,538
Amortisation of intangible asset EREESH 50,364 13,537
Amortisation of land use rights o 3th {58 PR AR 6 112 28
Cash flows from rare earth refinery and MERNMIEBZRESRE
processing business:
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating & 2EBZREMA (i) F5HE
activities 6,563 (45,927)
Net cash outflows from investing activities & & 8 Z B & HF 8 (9,025) (4,514)
Net cash inflows from financing activities BMEEHZIRERAFE - 53,021
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be ORb) A FE (2,462) 2,580
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15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

15. PERABFEHEZEE BE(H)

2013 2012
—E—=F —E—_4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
The major classes of assets and liabilities REEB DEABEHECEER
classified as held for sale as at year end BEZEZERNT:
are as follows:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 76) M RERZE (AiE16) 111,961 =
Intangible asset (note a below and Note 19) #EFEE ( FXHtitakfitit19) 401,735 -
Land use rights (Note 17) T ERRE (M aET17) 5,340 -
Goodwill (note b below and Note 18) EE (FXH b L HTE18) 171,748 -
Inventories (note ¢ below) TE (FXHate) 27,890 =
Trade and other receivables EWE 5 K&k EMERA 16,329 =
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) ReRFASEFHEIER (F725) 201 =
Assets classified as held for sale DERFIELECZEE 735,204 =
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 K& H b AR 1E (116,757) -
Other borrowings (note d below) HEtEE (FxXHitd) (419,799) -
Deferred taxation (Note 30) EIERLIE (M E30) (1,507) -
Liabilities directly associated with assets HEAOBRBELEZEE
classified as held for sale BEEHBCZEBE (538,063) =
Net assets directly associated with BABARIELRECEE
the assets classified as held for sale BEEHBCFEE 197,141 =
Cumulative income recognised in other A EL At % TE L 2 B R
comprehensive income relating to the A BERFIELEZ
assets/liabilities classified as held for sale: BE/BBEZ Atk
Foreign exchange translation adjustments INERE A 609 =

Notes:

The intangible asset relates to the technical know-how technology

Wit

(a)

to convert rare earth concentrates into a variety of rare earth

products. The technical know-how has a finite useful life and is

amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10

years.

BRAERSHIBERECASERLER IR
MIsRERA B o B RER A B R ATE B F 5 - IR E
A FAFHI0F RAE AR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

In accordance with the Group's accounting policies, the Group has
assessed the recoverable amount of the technical know-how based
on a value-in-use calculation, which uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management covering
a 9-year period with pre-tax discount rate of 36.41% per annum.
The discount rate used reflects specific risk relating to the rare
resources industry.

For the purpose of impairment test, the recoverable amount
has been assessed on 30 September 2012 by reference to a
valuation prepared by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent
valuer, determined based on the value-in-use calculations. As
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount as at 30
September 2012, accordingly an impairment of approximately
HK$81,840,000 was charged to the consolidated income
statement. The circumstances leading to the impairment was
mainly due to recent changes in the market situation e.g. price
drop, decrease in demand, PRC government policies controlling
the supply of rare earth raw materials etc., particularly since
August 2012, the whole rare earth industry has been disrupted.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is no
indication of impairment in the carrying amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 March 2013 and accordingly no further impairment
loss was recognised.

The Group performed an impairment review for cash-generating
unit (the "CGU") of rare resources segment with reference to
a valuation carried out by a firm of independent professional
valuers. The recoverable amount of the rare resources segment has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation, which uses
a cash flow projection based on financial forecast approved by
management covering a 9-year period. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to cash flow projection is 21.98% (2012: pre-tax 25.92%)
and cash flow beyond the 9-year period is extrapolated using a
steady 2.86% (2012: 3.66%) per annum growth rate. The growth
rate used does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the business in which the CGU operates. The recoverable amount
of the CGU of rare resources segment is higher than the carrying
amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss charge needed to be
made against the goodwill as at 31 March 2013.

In view of the development potentials in rare earth processing
business in China which will benefit from the PRC government's
policies in recent years to consolidate the industry and restrict
output, the management believed that the projected cash flow
based on financial forecasts for a period of 9 years is reliable.

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross margins
based on past performance, expectation for the market
development and planned production strategy. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to rare resources
industry.
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15. PERABEHEZEE BE(H)

Kiat - (%)

(a)

(%)
RRAKEZ B BRE ARECREREER
BRI R AR < FTR B £ %7 W A EE R
ERDERREREREZ N FHRUBREET
ZBREREFA HAIMR R AT F36.41% ° P
AR R RRH L EREZHERR

RETRENR AEEER—T-——FNA=1
F2RBYGEMESERTEARIBGRR L
B8 - R EER E AT AR E S5 - AR
KESEER-_T——FNA=+BEZEEE:"
HMERIZEE W RN 481,840,000/ 7T 2 Rl fE
BEYHBREETELHNTRAHEE (NER
TR B R BE  o BERAT BORA2 % + RRHE E
) LEEEBEZT——FNAUR BEBLT
EOZFNFE - ARDEERR TEPRBERE
WEER _ZT—=F=ZA=+—HZEHEHR
AR - B — P RERBEE R -

REBEL2REEEGEMTETZEERF L
BRABRNESELSMN ([REELBM])ET
BERN B ERS B2 A KRB S EIEERE
BstEEEE MEABEFEENEREER
EBi#tEZ N FRMGEREEET 2R REEA -
RETRETBBFMERZ AR EA21.98% (=
T——F:FA125.92%)  BBNFHIRERE
FAFE28% (ZT——F:3.66%)2BFHE
REBH - FTAGRRIT T RBREEEEMAT
CEEBZRERTFHUERR -BLERS HES
EXBuZIRECESRRAE Al =%
—=#=A=+-—BBAREEIRRAEEE-

ERNAFPRERFRREAHLITE RIES
BHRFEBLMIEB  EREN  EEEM
ERNFHMBIET 2R RERE 7
£

EEERBERER HMHERIBHRGTE 2
SERBRERFHERKLENE - AR K
BERATRAIRE  RIR - BRI R o



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c)

15. PERABFEHEZEE BE(H)

Hiat - (%)

Inventories comprise: (0 FEBE:
HK$'000
TFET
Raw materials R 2,393
Work in progress TR 22,070
Finished goods BIPK fh 3,427
27,890

Other borrowings include two loans (“Loan A” and “Loan B")
obtained by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company from
independent third parties and interest accrued thereon. Both Loan
A and Loan B are guaranteed by the Company. Loan A amounting
to RMB180,000,000 is unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of
11.5% per annum payable half-yearly and due for repayment in
full in December 2013. Lender of Loan A has the right to demand
the Company to transfer a maximum of 25% equity interest in
Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology Company Limited
to the lender in the event of a default to repay the loan by the
subsidiary or the Company on due date. Loan B amounting to
RMB76,000,000 is unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of 13.5%
per annum payable half-yearly and is due for repayment in full in
December 2013.

On 25 September 2012, the Company and the wholly-owned
subsidiary entered into supplemental agreements with lenders of
Loan A and Loan B to defer the payments of outstanding loan
interest to December 2013 on the basis that such outstanding
loan interest shall carry additional interest calculated at the same
interest rate as set out in the original loan agreements of Loan
A and Loan B. On 25 March 2013, extension agreements were
entered into with lenders of Loan A and Loan B to extend the due
date for full repayment of loan principals, outstanding interest and
additional interest calculated in accordance with the supplemental
agreements to December 2014. All other terms and conditions in
the extension agreements remain the same as those of the original
loan agreements.

The remaining balance represents unsecured and interest-free
borrowing of RMB43,000,000 advanced by an individual.
This borrowing has no fixed term of repayment.

The directors of the Company consider that the Loan A and Loan
B together with interest accrued thereon would be included in the
negotiations for the sale of the rare earth refinery and processing
business as such these borrowings and interest payable were
reclassified to liabilities directly associated with assets classified as
held for sale accordingly.

HtEEREARR —R2EBRRME L
E=FRBZREER([ERXRFIRIERZ])
RIEEEAFE HAARAER AHARYE
180,000,0007t 2 B R AEEH R FF=E11.5
Bt FEEEFIM—K BAR=2Z—=4F
F+_AFRBEE-WARAZHBRRIRERE
REHBEEEER AERFZERAGEEXR
AARAHEBREREZXEM IR EBR QA&
%25% [ 1E - B ARE76,000,000C2ERL A
EIIR R FEFERI35EF B MEFFEFI AN —
ROBRZE—=F+_ABHEE-

RZB—ZFNAZTHB KARARRZZEWNES
RAEERFRERLZERART LT E
BXNAREEERFEZAHTEEE—"FT—=F
TR BEERFHAAEEERFNERERFR
BRZ 2 [RE 3R 1 =% P8k 2 48 R 7 R 5 B RS F
B -RZE—=F=ZA=-+HB ARAIKRZ2E
ME R B EERRRERL 2 ERARTLIEH
& URBBEEENRAD REENERRRE
FAHHEAECEINE 2T HALEEE—"F N
F+ =B TR B 2 P A E AR R 5 2R
Bk %% ER -

#REE e — B E R A LT #MZ AR%A43,000,0007T
EEBREEE ZEEVEETERE-

FAERRFRERCEREFFE R
EERENANEEHEER D B AE
HEZEEERMEBEZAR:
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_T—=F=A=+—HItFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BMERRE

Leasehold Leasehold Furniture
Leasehold land and improve- Plant and Motor and  Construction
buildings buildings ments  machinery vehicles fixtures in progress Total
RELHR BENE
i B B¥ 26 HERES AE BRREE ERIR &t
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000
AT T TAT T AT FAT A7 AT
THE GROUP A%H
Cost A
At 1 April 2011 R-F-—%mA-A 7,582 4,085 39 21,186 3,690 1,528 - 44,7110
Additions it 2,064 - - 2301 497 124 190 5,176
Disposals u“j’E - - - - (2,200) 03) - (2,203)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) WERERR (4323 73,176 - - 29,867 1% - 4128 107,367
Exchange realignment S 290 156 - 1,063 110 17 - 1636
At 31 March 2012 RZZ-—%#zA=+-H 83,112 4241 39 61,017 2,093 1,666 4318 156,686
At 1 April 2012 R-E--#MmA-A 83,112 424 39 61,017 2,93 1,666 4318 156,686
Additions it 1,947 - 1617 5722 - 28 1,357 10,671
Reclassification ENNE 1976 - - 3,704 - - (5,680) -
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 13) ENARARIELE (i 15) (79,256) - - (41,592) (196) - - (121,044)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Aote 35/ HEMBLR (Hits5) - - - - = (27) = (27)
Exchange realignment ES AR 103 5 - 75 2 - 5 190
At 31 March 2013 R-Z2-=§=f=1-A 7,882 4,246 1,656 28,926 2,099 1,667 - 46,476
Accumulated depreciation, ZithE BHEREE
amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2011 RZF-—4MmA-A 417 3,899 2 2,962 2,600 1,006 - 10,906
Depreciation provided for the year M, RERE 883 17 17 4,705 307 198 - 6,147
Eliminated on disposal HERHE - - - - (1,931) B - (1,934)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Vote 34) WERBAR (M) - - - = 10 - = 10
Exchange realignment EHHE 26 149 - 165 55 6 - 401
At 31 March 2012 R=F--#=A=1-R 1,326 4,005 39 7,832 1,061 1,207 - 15,530
At 1 April 2012 R-2--%#MmA-H 1,326 4,005 39 7,832 1,061 1,207 - 15,530
Depreciation provided for the year rEE iﬁ%‘% 2,888 17 995 8811 269 166 - 13,146
Fliminated on reclassification as ENABARELEHE (Hit15)
held for sale (Note 15) (3,090) - - (5,953) (40) - - (9,083)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Aote 75 HEMBLR (Hit5) - = = = = (9) = 9
Exchange realignment EHH% 2 5 - 10 - - - 17
At 31 March 2013 R-B-=F=f=1-A 1,126 4,087 1,034 10,700 1,290 1,364 - 19,601
Net book values BEFE
At 31 March 2013 R-2-Z£=A=1-A 6,756 159 622 18,226 809 303 - 26,875
At 31 March 2012 A\—2-—£=f=1-H 81,786 176 - 53,185 1,232 459 4318 141,156
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group's leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC held

under medium term lease.

The Group's leasehold land and buildings are situated in the PRC
held under long term lease. As the prepaid land lease payment
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease payment is included in the cost of
land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment in accordance with HKAS 16.

Depreciation expense of HK$6,023,000 (2012: HK$4,064,000)
has been expensed in cost of sales and HK$7,123,000 (2012:
HK$2,083,000) in administrative expenses.

At 31 March 2013, the Group's leasehold buildings with
carrying value of HK$6,756,000 (2012: HK$3,703,000) are
pledged to secure bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note
28).

16.

M BERHRE (E)
AEBHERTFURPERARBBEOTE -

AEEZHEEL M REFARHERAXHHE
AFH - BRI LI EFRIB LN L3t R E
FEoRAI DA it 2B HERARES
BEFEREI16RLYE BERKBZRER
ERERIHRETHRAZA-

FEMSZP 6,023,000 (2T — = F:
4,064,000 L) ERBERAPZIE M
7,123,000/ 7L (=& — =4 :2,083,000% 7t )
AIRTTEREB AR 8-

RZE—=F=ZA=+—HB AEEEEES
6,756,000t (= Z — =4 : 3,703,000 JT )
ZHEEFEEEF UERAEEERZHRT
B8 (H#:7#28) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 16. ME BMELRE (B)

Leasehold Furniture and

improvements fixtures Total
HEMEEE BRREE #Ast
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T T F 87T
THE COMPANY NN
Cost %N
At 1 April 2011 R=ZE——FWmMA—H 39 454 493
Additions i - 38 38
At 31 March 2012 RZE-—ZF=A=+—H 39 492 531
At 1 April 2012 R-ZZE——£mA—H 39 492 531
Additions g - 27 27
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE—-=5=H=1+—H 39 519 558
Accumulated depreciation RIME
At 1 April 2011 RZE——FWMA—H 22 286 308
Depreciation provided for the year AEEHERE 17 67 84
At 31 March 2012 RZE-—ZF=A=+—H 39 353 392
At 1 April 2012 R-ZZE——€mA—H 39 353 392
Depreciation provided for the year REFHERE - 62 62
At 31 March 2013 R-Z-=%=H=t+—-H 39 415 454
Net book values BREFE
At 31 March 2013 R-Z2-—=5=HA=1+—H = 104 104

At 31 March 2012 RZE——F=ZA=+—H = 139 139
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

17. LAND USE RIGHTS 17. T HufE FRE
The Group
rEE
2013 2012
—B—=F —E——4F
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FiET
Cost R AR
At 1 April REA—H 18,667 12,708
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) W RS B A 7 (A7 at34) - 5,473
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 15) BEFOBARBELE (Ki7F15) (5,480) =
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 & 23 486
At 31 March WR=A=+—H 13,210 18,667
Accumulated amortisation g T
At 1 April KM A—H 1,040 507
Charged for the year NEEHBR 598 508
Eliminated on reclassification as BN BRABIELERYEHE
held for sale (Note 15) (Kiat15) (140) =
Exchange realignment b 5 3% 1 25
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 1,499 1,040
Net book value REFEE
At 31 March R=A=+—H 11,711 17,627

The Group's interests in land use rights are outside Hong Kong
with medium term leases.

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s land use rights with carrying
value of HK$11,711,000 (2012: HK$12,182,000) are pledged to
secure bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note 28).

AEBR L E B Z RN EE A - WAR
BREBEORSR -

RZE—=F=ZA=+—H AEEERHEEAR
11,711,000 L (=ZF — =4 :12,182,000/%
TL) 2 T AR R LERAEEER
ZIRITIBE (H17728) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_T—=F=A=+—HItFE

acquisition of 80% equity interest in Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray
Technologies Co. Limited during the year ended 31 March 2010.

Impairment tests for goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the group of cash-generating units (the “CGU")
comprising the gamma ray irradiation services segment.

The recoverable amount of the gamma ray irradiation services
operation has been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation, which uses a cash flow projection based on financial
forecast approved by management covering a 5-year period. The
pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projection is 22.63%
(2012: pre-tax 21.66%) and cash flow beyond the 5-year period
is extrapolated using zero growth rate. The recoverable amount
of the CGU of gamma ray irradiation services segment is higher
than the carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss
charge needed to be made against the goodwill as at 31 March
2013 and 31 March 2012.

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross margins
based on past performance, expectation for the market
development and planned production strategy. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to gamma ray
irradiation services.
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18. GOODWILL 18. &
The Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E—=F —EF—_F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost AR

At 1 April REA—H 195,129 23,592

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries W B BT B A B EE A (M at34)

(Note 34) - 171,536
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 15) BHOBERFIELE (Hi7E15) (171,748) -
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 & 211 1
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 23,592 195,129
At 31 March 2013, the amount represents goodwill arising from RZEBE-—Z=F=A=+—H ZHREEHZE=

—EF=A=+t-HLFELE “‘T%%‘/Fmﬂ
BREMAR DA Z280% R REFTE £ 2 & & -

/\l

D

AERENR

AETRENR BEEHREBENIBS KR
HRED Bz —HASELEBM([REELSE
firl) e
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSET 19. BELEE
The Group
rEH
2013 2012
—2-—=F =H==F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost AR
At 1 April R A—HB 547,472 -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries W B BT /BB A B B EE AR
(Note 34) (Ktzz34) - 547,472
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 15) BEFOBARBELRE (Ki715) (548,148) =
Exchange realignment ME K 58 # 676 =
At 31 March R=A=+—8H - 547,472
Accumulated amortisation and Zit @8 RRE
impairment
At 1 April REA—AH 13,687 -
Amortisation for the year PG F 50,364 13,537
Impairment for the year NEERE 82,346 =
Eliminated on reclassification as B DR RFEL &R HH
held for sale (Note 15) (HiaE15) (146,413) -
Exchange realignment I 5, 38 B 16 150
At 31 March R=A=+—8H - 13,687
Net book value REFE
At 31 March R=A=+—H - 533,785
The amortisation charge for the year is included in administrative AEEHEIEFAGRERERZITRERARN

expenses in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_T—=F=A=+—HItFE

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

20. RKMIEB QA 2=

The Company

AT
2013 2012
= =H==F
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost IEEMRRG R AE - =
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U BT BB A &) FRIAE 517,507 617,724
Allowance for impairment B B (448,639) (366,799)
68,868 250,925
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE 1< Bt B8 A R FRIB - (55,277)

The Company’s cost of investments in the unlisted shares of its
directly held subsidiaries is less than HK$1,000.

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free
and have no fixed term of repayment. In the opinion of the
directors, the amounts will not be recovered/settled within
twelve months of the balance sheet date and are accordingly
classified as non-current.

In view of the subsidiaries which sustained losses are not
financially capable of repaying to the Company in near future,
the directors opined that it is appropriate to make an allowance
for impairment of HK$448,639,000 (2012: HK$366,799,000)
after considering the profitability, financial positions, cash flows
and future prospects of these subsidiaries.

1 1 O China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

RAARREEEREZHB AR ZIELTRG
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. RMIB AR ZER (&)
Movements on the allowance account are as follows: BRER2EHIT
2013 2012
—E-=F —T—_4F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FETT Fi&ET
At beginning of the year REH] 366,799 366,799
Impairment loss recognised FRHERR < R B & 18 81,840 -
At end of the year NGRS 448,639 366,799
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March ARREEEMBRAANR T —=F=A=1+—
2013 are set out in Note 43. B2 s B 5 E A M E43 -
21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
The Group
AEE
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
(a) Inventories in the consolidated (a) FEEEBBERAZEERE:

balance sheet comprise:

Properties held for sale FIEHEMmE - 9,010
Raw materials R+ %t - 4,772
Work in progress £ & m - 28,853
Finished goods UK - 1,964

- 44,599

(b) The amount of inventories recognised (b)) FARRARIZFES
as an expense during the year:

Carrying amount of inventories sold BHEFEZEREE 45,292 25,216
Write-down of inventories HWom T & - 9,826
Reversal of write-down of inventories B E MR TE (3,682) =

41,610 35,042

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =44 111
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MBEHRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 &

E-F-SE=A=t-ALEE

= —=

22. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 22. BEPYHE
The Group
rEH

2013 2012
—E—=F —E-CF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At beginning of the year R E L) 43,777 41,897
Additions NE 25 276
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HEMB AR (#iE35) (43,481) -
Exchange realignment bE 5, 38 & (321) 1,604
At end of the year NGRS - 43,777

The properties under development represented medium term BRPMEERP B 2 A B L A -

land use rights in the PRC.
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EWESZ KHMIRE
The Group The Company
8-

2013 2012 2013 2012
-—g—-= —E-——fF —E-=F —E——fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Trade receivables W E 5 HRE 3,140 3,491 - -
Less: allowance for impairment R RERE 2,632 2,632 - -
Trade receivables, net EYESERE FE 508 859 - -
Other receivables and prepayments Hofth B I AR TE R T SRR 56,825 41,786 m 72
57,333 72

In the opinion of the Directors, all of the above trade and

other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as

expense within one year.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and

other receivables approximate to their fair values.

1 1 2 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. EWES REMIRE (&)
The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to 90 AEBHRTHESEFP AN F60HE90H 2
days to its trade customers. The following is an analysis of EEH-UTRENREZAMZI 2 EKNE SR
trade receivables by age, presented based on the invoice date. BHREDT - U TOMBREEASBERBELE
The analysis below includes those classified as part of assets ZEAERR (EMBRRERE)E

classified as held for sale, net of allowance for doubtful debts:

The Group
REME
2013 2012
—E—=F —T—_4F
HK$000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Up to 30 days 30H A 6,916 627
31 to 90 days 31Z290H 67 231
91 to 365 days 91&365H 252 1
7,235 859
The movements on the allowance for impairment are as follows: WEREZZEEHWT
The Group
rEE

2013 2012
—EB—=F —T—_4F
HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
At beginning of the year R E 4 2,632 2,901
Uncollectible amount written off i 5H 4 W |l 3R I8 - (77)
Unused amounts reversed (note 7) BEIRGEAESE (HE7) - (192)
At end of the year NG 2,632 2,632
At 31 March 2013, trade receivables of HK$2,632,000 (2012: R-ZE—=F=ZA=+—H BUESFKHE
HK$2,632,000) were impaired. The amount of allowance for 2,632,000/ L (= — =4 :2,632,000% 7t)
impairment was HK$2,632,000 as at 31 March 2013 (2012: ERE-R_TE—=F=ZA=+—HZREEHE
HK$2,632,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly ©#/52,632,0008 7L (=T —=4:2,632,000
related to a number of customers that were in financial BIT) o ERIREEKREEEZ S RELEBA

difficulties and have remained long overdue. MBEERRARRZEP °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are considered
to be impaired is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

23.

FEWE S R HAMRE (48)

AEEBRRATREZEKE ZREBEREK SN

mF

The Group
AEE

2013 2012
—EB—=F —ET——4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
1 year to 2 years past due w1 =24 - 25
Over 2 years past due 0 HA R B2 F 2,632 2,607
2,632 2,632

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not

AEERSEBREZEKE S RBKER DT

considered to be impaired is as follows: A
The Group
AEME

2013 2012
= =f —E—_4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Not yet past due i 7 %80 Ef 433 627
Less than 6 months past due i 87 > 6 1E A 75 231
6 months to 1 year past due w618 A =14 - 1
508 859
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is REBERERZR 2 BREERRA LMSHERE
the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned above. The WERE ATE ASBEYERZSZERFTEE

Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. All of the other classes within trade and
other receivables are neither past due nor impaired with good
credit quality.

1 1 4 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Included in trade and other receivables is the following amount
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
the Company to which they relate:

23. EWESRHEMIRE (&)
FEUE 5 K H A0 BRIE B B 4E T 5 AR 2 7 1) A
ERUINE R REA Y 5

The Group
rEE
2013 2012
—F—=fF —_F—=
‘000 ‘000
FT Fir
Renminbi AR 16,985 26,940

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

24, BAFEFABBEZESHEE

The Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—=F —EF——F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Listed securities held for trading: FEEEZ LMES !
— Equity securities — Hong Kong, —RAELE-—BH ETE
at market value 38,845 39,606

None of the carrying amount of interest in listed securities
exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group at both balance
sheet dates.

RMEAE R - EhESEs BREE T EE
AEBEEREZ210% °
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25. RERREEHEEE

The Group The Company
A5H b /NG|

2013 2012 2013 2012

“E-=f —E—CF —F-=§ —2—_fF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Bank balances and cash RITEBRRRE 56,437 18,774 53,212 6,611
Cash and bank balances included in FARBBRBELEZ

a disposal group classified as HEARN 2 RE R
held for sale (Note 15) RITEEER (HaE15) 201 = - =
56,638 18,774 53,212 6,611

Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet are
the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

HAZERERZRERRSSHEAGRET
SRR R EEUS A REC 2 2%

The Group The Company
r&EE NG|

2013 2012 2013 2012

—E-=f —T-CF —B-=f S

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

FI FIT FIT FT

United States Dollars e 5 255 - =
Renminbi AR 2,403 4,942 - -
Japanese Yen = 20 20 20 20
Malaysian Ringgit BRAET 1 1 1 1

1 1 6 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. ERESRIEMERE
The Group The Company
N | PN

2013 2012 2013 2012

—E-=& —E—CF —E-=F —E2—_fF

HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FAETL FAT FET

Trade payables ENESRE 1 35,425 - -

Other payables and accruals H BT BRTE R FE TR 37,404 129,709 6,626 8,348
37,405

In the opinion of the Directors, all of the trade and other
payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income
within one year or are repayable on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and
other payables approximate to their fair value.

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age based on
the invoice date. The analysis below includes those classified as

part of liabilities classified as held for sale:

165,134 6,626 8,348

BEERR ARNESREMKRBREF AR —
FAZNAERRKRAREZREE -

EXERARNESGREMRACEEERELR
FEMEE -

NTAENREZAHZENE SRBRR DT -
LNTaMBEEEASBEARELE 28 EHT
=

The Group
rEE

2013 2012
= =Ff —E—_4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Up to 30 days 30B K 6,173 10,440
31 to 90 days 31290H - 6,271
Over 90 days R 890 H 38,066 18,714
44,239 35,425
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MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
Included in trade and other payables is the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the Company to which they relate:

26. ENESREMKRE (F)
e E 5 REAMKRIBEIE TR
BB REM S8 !

NAIEEE

The Group
rEE
2013 2012
—F—=fF —_Fg—=
‘000 ‘000
FT T
Australian dollar BT 14 34
Renminbi AR 21,404 121,557

27. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY
The amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
The directors are of the opinion that the amount is not
repayable in the next twelve months from the balance sheet

27. BNKWERDQRAFERRRRE

FERTHT B AR EER R R REREEA 28R
BEEEENN EERRAHENEEEERL
ToEARTSREREE AU RIERS -

28.

date and is therefore shown as non-current.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

28. RITREMBEE

The Group
KEE
2013 2012
—E—=F —EF——
HK$000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Current 7 B
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) RITEE-FET (fita) - 9,864
Non-current R B
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) RITEBEE-BER (Mita) 9,877 -
Other borrowings — unsecured Hihfg BE-EE A
— Loan from a company controlled by a ——BEERRESZ
substantial shareholder (Note b) NRREZE R (KiEb) 56,790 56,636
— Other loans (Note c) —HMER(Hitc) - 368,214
66,667 424,850
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEESERE 66,667 434,714

1 1 8 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]




28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

28. RITRHEMEE (&)

The Group
rEH
2013 2012
= =H==F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowing repayable FER TS HEERE CRITEE
Within one year —F R - 9,864
In the second year FF 9,877 -
9,877 9,864
Other borrowings repayable ERTHHEEEZ HMEER
In the second year F-F 56,790 424,850
Total bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEERRE 66,667 434,714
The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current EMBEECEREERAFENT
borrowings are as follows:
2013 2012
—E-=§ —E—_F
The Group Carrying amount Fair value  Carrying amount Fair value
A&H HREE AYE BEE AFE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET THET
Bank borrowing TEE 9,877 8,829 - -
Other borrowings ffEE 56,790 47,608 424,850 350,393
66,667 56,437 350,393

The carrying amount of short-term bank borrowing was

approximate to its fair value.

424,850

RHRITERE ZREMERQFERS-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBEHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
The carrying amount of borrowing is denominated in the

29.

following currency:

28. RITRHEMEE (&)
EEZREMEN T S8 AERN

The Group
AEE

2013 2012

—EB-—=F —ET——4F

‘000 ‘000

FT For

Renminbi AR 54,000 353,000
Notes: Kt -

(o)

During the year, the Group obtained a new bank loan which
matures until 23 September 2014 to replace the bank loan that
matured on 25 September 2012. The average effective interest
rate of the bank borrowing is approximately 7.76% (2012: 8.17%)
per annum. At 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012, the bank
borrowing is secured by certain leasehold buildings and land use
rights of the Group (Notes 16 and 17).

The loan is interest free, unsecured and has no fixed terms of
repayment. The directors are of the opinion that this loan is not
repayable in the next twelve months from the balance sheet date
and is therefore shown as non-current.

At 31 March 2012, the balance represented loans from three
independent third parties. One of the loans is unsecured, interest
free and has no fixed terms of repayment and the other two
loans are interest bearing. As at 31 March 2013, these loans were
reclassified as liabilities associated with assets classified as held for
sale. Further details on these loans are disclosed in Note 15(d).

CONVERTIBLE NOTE
On 8 March 2011, the Company entered into a subscription

agreement (as amended by a supplemental agreement dated 3

May 2011) to issue 3-years 1% convertible note in a principal
amount of HK$105,000,000 to Mega Market Assets Limited.
Mega Market Assets Limited is a substantial shareholder of the

Company. The issue of the convertible note was completed on
17 October 2011.

1 20 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZFT—=F=A=+—HILFE

CONVERTIBLE NOTE (continued)

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the convertible note is
convertible at the option of the noteholder into ordinary shares
on or after 17 October 2011 up to and including 17 October
2014 on the basis of one ordinary share with a par value of
HK$0.01 each at an initial conversion price of HK$0.27 per
share, subject to adjustments in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the subscription agreement in certain events.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, as a result of the placing
of existing shares and top-up subscription of new shares, the
conversion price has been adjusted from HK$0.27 per share to
HK$0.2422 per share.

Unless previously converted, redeemed, purchased or cancelled,
any convertible note not converted will be redeemed by
the Company on 17 October 2014 at its principal amount
outstanding together with all accrued and unpaid interest
thereon. The convertible note carries interest at 1% per annum,
which is payable half-yearly in arrears.

At initial recognition, the convertible note is separated into a
liability component consisting of the straight debt element and
an equity component representing the conversion options of
the noteholder to convert the convertible note into equity. The
equity component is presented as convertible note reserve in
equity, whereas the liability component is classified under non-
current liabilities. The proceeds received from the issue of the
convertible note have been split as follows:

(i)  Liability component represents the fair value of the
contractually determined stream of cash flows discounted
at the prevailing market interest rate applicable to
instruments of comparable credit status and providing
substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but
without the conversion features. The interest charged for
the period is calculated by applying an effective interest
rate of 7.757% to the liability component since the
convertible note was issued.

(i)  Equity component represents the conversion options,
which is determined by deducting the fair value of the
liability component from the proceeds of issue of the
convertible note as a whole.

29. ATRREE (B)

RERERE ZEFBEATA_T——F1+A
THHSZERE_T—NE+A+LHE (B
Z B IEHRE - RS ERESR0.278 T (7]
RIFRBE G & R RIEHEESR TER TEH
HE)BARRERRERAEREE0IEBTLL
el

REBEE-_ZT-—=F=ZA=+—HLFE ARk
EREROREERBEHRG Bt 2RED
HER027ETHESE0.242287T °

BrRoEEREH BE BENEH TR EAE
B2 EMAMRERATRARRTR T —MF+
ATEtHRHAREERSHEERME B LR
A FB B @ o AT R R SR IR AR A A K1 %A B
MEgFFRPRIM-

R HERE - ATRREBES RESEREB T
EZBEND EESES  MERSD NRER
BEANERABEREAEG 2 BRE Y HE#Ea
R RABEREFEE MARERDRDESIE
mBEE BITAREERZEREABEHIALD
B D RIATES

(i) BEBH EEREBETREREZAFE
DEEEBRAEELRHERXBERES
T RERINARR - BN R R 2 T AFR
A2 RITT 5 R - B0 2 F
EERTARARERR RAEELINUE
BAIRT7.757 %t &

i) IS - ERBIE - TIEBNETTRR
R EEMBRET AR EDH 2 A
FEEE:
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE-_T—=F=A=+—HItFE

29. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (continued) 29. TEREE (&)
The movement of the liability component and the equity THRREBEZBERDRERLIELRFEZ
component of the convertible note for the year is set out below: BEMT
The Group and
the Company
TEERAEADF
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——-F
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Liability component at 1 April REA—BZzaERD 88,848 =
Nominal value of convertible note FARTARRKRER ZHEHE
issued during the year - 105,000
Equity component* (Note 33) EmED* (KiF33) - (18,417)
Transaction costs attributable to BEHDEEZR PR
the liability component - (305)
Imputed interest expense (Note 8) HEMEXH (#:78) 7,025 3,048
Interest expenses R H (1,050) (478)
Liability component at 31 March R=RA=+—RHBZAEB» 94,823 88,848
* The transaction costs attributable to the equity component of the & A] PR R Z IR 7 50 75 FE 1 2 XX 5K 7K 7365,000;E

convertible note amounted to HK$65,000.

No conversion, redemption or purchase and cancellation of the

convertible note has occurred up to 31 March 2013.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible note

based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on borrowing
rate as at 31 March 2013 is approximately HK$97,168,000

(2012: HK$90,779,000).

1 22 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

At 31 March 2013, the Group has unutilised tax losses of
approximately HK$256,292,000 (2012: HK$248,785,000), part
of which has not yet been agreed with the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2013 were losses
of approximately HK$27,713,000 (2012: HK$21,790,000) that
would expire in five years and the remaining balance would not
expire under the current tax legislation.

At 31 March 2013, the Group has other deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$54,000 (2012: HK$467,000).
No deferred tax assets has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. These deductible
temporary differences do not expire under the current tax
legislation.

30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. EAEBIF
Details of deferred tax liabilities and amount charged to BEEREBEAGERARE ARG cE2B2F
consolidated income statement are as follows: BT :
The Group & E
Properties
held for sale Others Total
BELHEME Hity Mgt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2011 R=ZZE——FMA—H 8,062 2,081 10,143
(Credited)/Charged to consolidated Riza R (GFN) /B
income statement (Note 71) (Hiaz11) (2,962) 123 (2,839)
Exchange realignment IE 5, B 275 80 355
At 31 March 2012 RZE-—ZF=A=+—H 5,375 2,284 7,659
(Credited)/Charged to consolidated RiralaER (5EA) kK
income statement (Note 71) (Kiaz11) (5,382) 1,935 (3,447)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) & B A Bl (H772£35) = (1,380) (1,380)
Reclassified to liabilities directly associated EH P BEESEARFEREZ
with assets classified held for sale EEEERBECAE
(Note 15) (Htat15) - (1,507) (1,507)
Exchange realignment BE 5, 3 B 7 9) ()
At 31 March 2013 R-_E—=%=A=+—H

= 1,323 1,323

RZB—=F=A=+—H AEEAJHENK
Mo A 2 R B) LIS BT 1B 4Y /256,292,000 7T
—F— — 4 :248,785,000/8 7T ) 280 £ N
REFEBBBRRE - AR TRETEFT R G A
ME WEARZERBEBERERELERBE
E-R-TE—=F=ZA=+—8 s AXPAMH
18 2 B184927,713,0008 T (=T — — 4 :
21,790,000 7C) ATRE R A F N EIHR - Mk N 4
BRIBBIRITR A AL &R B -

R-ZZE—=Ff=A=+—H AEEEHEM
Al 0 B = B 4540008 L (2 ——F:
467,000 7T ) ° R ] RE 1 & = A& JE R B s A
AR MBEERER R ERZS N
TREERAECRBEE - REBEBRITREE
Bl ZER MR EEWES A -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HEZ=ZT—

=FZA=t—HIEHFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &
Number
of shares Amount
BHEE S8
HK$'000
FEIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each: FREE.0NE Tz TiMmAR :
Authorised: JEE
At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and RZZE——FMA—H
31 March 2013 T _—_F=A=+—"HRK
—E—=f=fA=+—H 15,000,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: EZETRHE -
At 1 April 2011 R—ZT—FMA—H 2,955,681,490 29,557
Exercise of share options 1718 R R i 418,000,000 4,180
At 31 March 2012 R-_E——F=H=+—H 3,373,681,490 33,737
Exercise of share options (Note a) T{ERERRHE (K ata) 5,000,000 50
Issue of shares (Note b) BT D (HaEb) 420,000,000 4,200
At 31 March 2013 R=-ZB—=F=A=+—8H 3,798,681,490 37,987

Notes:

During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for 5,000,000
ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$580,000
of which HK$50,000 was credited to share capital and the balance
of HK$530,000 was credited to the share premium account
(Note 33) together with a transfer of HK$134,000 from the share
options reserve to the share premium account. Details of options
outstanding and movements during the year are set out in Note 32.

On 13 March 2013, Mega Market Assets Limited (“Mega Market”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company, placed an aggregate
420,000,000 existing ordinary shares of the Company to certain
independent third parties, at a price of HK$0.097 per share, for
a total cash consideration of HK$40,740,000, and Mega Market
subscribed for 420,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
at the same price on 21 March 2013. The net proceeds of
HK$40,075,000, out of which HK$4,200,000 and HK$35,875,000
were recorded in share capital and share premium respectively, are
intended to be used as general working capital of the Group.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ranked pari passu

with the existing ordinary shares in all respects.

1 24 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

RARFEE - BIRER T - 12K E580,000/ 7T 2
B%5,000,0000% 78 A &) & 38 A% - H #150,000/% JT &
AR% 7N - T #4 %8530,00057% 7t Bl 51 A B% 17 5 B BR
(Ktet33) - I B B ARAE (A 8548 134,000 T = AR
M ER - RTEBRERFAZH ZFBEHAR
B E32 ©

R-ZTE—=F=ZA+=H AR EEREMega
Market Assets Limited ([Mega Market ))& &
f%0.097 8B Tz BEMETELE=ZFRES#
420,000,000k A A AR A LA BReREA
40,740,000% 7T * MMega MarketiR ZZ —=F =
A =+ — B %6 R & 1% 8 #420,000,000/% A~ &
AT @AR - FT18 3R I8)F 840,075,000 7T (H
4,200,000/ 7T A BR 71| AR 7S + 35,875,000 7T A
RS ARMDEE) BRAEAEEz —REEES -

RAGEENET2 A SRR S 7 AYER
BERREARSES-



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2002 Scheme”) which, unless otherwise terminated, will
remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 24 April
2002. At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
22 August 2011, the Company adopted a new share option
“2011 Scheme”) in place of the 2002 Scheme.
Upon the 2011 Scheme becoming unconditional and effective
on 23 August 2011, the 2002 Scheme was terminated on the
same date. Nevertheless, share options granted under the 2002

scheme (the

Scheme prior to its termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

(@) The 2002 Scheme

The 2002 Scheme was adopted by the Company on 24
April 2002 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors, eligible employees and consultants. Under the
2002 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may
at its discretion offer to any employee, including executive
directors, or consultants of the Company and/or its
subsidiaries options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options
granted. Options granted should be accepted within 30
days from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant, or (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2002 Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of shareholders’ approval of the 2002 Scheme, without a
prior approval from the Company'’s shareholders.

32.

B ETE

RZZBEZ_FNHAZ+MB RNRAFARMN—IE
BRESE (222 F5E]) RIFESTR
I BRIERE = _FHA=-_+TMHBEET+
FHEABRRES -RA2GI ZTE——F\A
ZTZHRBROZRFEFAE £ AR AIERA—
B ERESE ([T ——F58l)) MK=F
2:¢§+§U°F¢\:§**fﬁ§+§ﬂﬁ§:3§**¢)\
R t=BRAREGRERENE T _F5f
EIRABKIE- A BE_SZT_FHERNAE
IERTI 2 BIRE SRR E 2 BT IR
BHB AT

(a) =Z22-F53
—EE_FHEIABARATAR_ZET_FN
AZTHBARM HEZRNERRHEE
BTsEE aARESRER -REZ
E i3 ARBEEGARIEREM
BE (BEARB R/ SEKE QR ZH
TEFHIERMBXELARBARRBN 2
BRE - REOBREZSHKRE/VET-
RHZBREENREASMEF=1TARA
REE A -

TEEBRARAIESEE  HTMERUAT
BEHEZEEE  ()VREBBH2ZROKHE
(ZE R B HERT AL E % 2B Kk H FHK
M{E: (i) AARRHEE -

BROERSARRBRELMAESN RE—
ZFEAHEATRE 2BRES K 2K

’\ﬁ%( CAEHBBARARNBRRILE-T
TFEHEEAZEETRMNZ10% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—T—=F=A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

The 2002 Scheme (continued)

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2002 Scheme and any
other schemes, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue from time
to time.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued)
in respect of which options may be granted to any eligible
person in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue, unless a
shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2002 Scheme at any time after the date upon which
the option is granted and prior to the expiry of 10 years
from that date. The period during which an option may
be exercised will be determined by the board of directors
in its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted.
No option may be granted more than 10 years after the
date of approval of the 2002 Scheme. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting or by the
board of directors’ resolution at a general meeting, the
2002 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years after the date of adoption of the 2002 Scheme.

By an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 22 August 2011 and upon the 2011
Scheme becoming unconditional and effective, the 2002
No further
share options may be offered under the 2002 Scheme.

Scheme was terminated on 23 August 2011.
Nevertheless, share options granted under the 2002
Scheme prior to its termination shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

1 26 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

32. BRESE(B)

(a)

o FiE (E)
RE-TT-FHARENLMIDE
L T 4 5K T 2 B 7 1 91 0 B R O T 7
TR TR ZRGBY &S TEA
87K A 7R B 5 17 AR 1D S8 2 30%

BOEF/ERRMEIN REM+ @A
AR ER S B A TR L 2 B
PRZERBEBTETROHEE HZT
BHEARAEETRNDAE 21% -

RE_TZ_FiH 2GR BRETR
BREXLERAEEMZ AR TFERA
BERTE - BREZATIEHAEHES
SERMNEEE EBERETCERAERY
THERTE- R T _FrE/#ER 4
AT ER - BASREBRE -BRIEARQ
ARBRRAREXIREZTGNRRAG 2R

FREERIEEE TR T &5t
EREM— T _F4EE AR TEHA
BRI ER -

BRAARNARER T ——FNA=+=
HBRZEBRERERGFZ——F5tE
BRABKGERERE — ST _F: 8RN
—E——FNAZ+=AKIE-IE T
BEBE-ZE_FiaE—PROBERE-
R BB _FAE8REKL LR
EZBRERRBESEZBITIEREES
MR AI{TfE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

The 2011 Scheme

The 2011 Scheme was adopted by the Company on
22 August 2011 which will expire on 21 August 2021.
The primary purpose of the 2011 Scheme is to provide
incentives or reward to the eligible persons for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Group. Under the 2011 Scheme and
subject to its terms and conditions, the board of directors
of the Company may at its discretion offer to any eligible
employee, director, or consultant, agent, supplier, customer
or contractor of the Group options to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Such offer shall be open for acceptance
on a day specified in the letter of grant which shall be no
longer than 30 days from the date of the letter of grant.
The share options shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted and taken effect when the duplicate letter
of grant is signed by the eligible person and returned to
the Company together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of grant of the
share options.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, which shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of offer, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding vested or
unvested options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue from time to time (the “Overriding
Limit").

32. BRESE(E)

(b)

—E——FiaE

—E——FFFEAARAR =T ——F
NAZ+ZBHEHN BR=_ZFE=—FN\A
—+ B3 —FHEZTER
NERRAEGEBATHRFESHASEEZE
B R B AN B R 2 2 NS IR B
NEE - RIBFE-T ——FAE RZEER
RIGHRR AARESERBERAEAE
BEEAEEKRES ZFEM RE #
JER BP AR AKEAREBEARARAR
PZERE - AREELEERE D REETE
Z BH (TERE L H B EE308 ) i
M- ERLEKHFRANESEERATEER
RE AR E] BT R R R A
RARERVET  BRIEGHERADER
o 7 2 A B R A

THRERARARAESTEE HHNERAT
BHEz&ESE  (WREAHZBROHETE
(BT H B HA R E =X B RO FHR
M8 ¢ (i) AR B E{E -

HiRE =T — — F5 & R H A 2K
HRDARITEZAB R ARITED BEIKR
BRBREETRM A ERTZRM A
B ARAREITR/EBARATHEET
P48 230% ([&REmLER]) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

The 2011 Scheme (continued)

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of shareholders’ approval of the 2011 Scheme (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding Limit,
the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by
ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting,
provided that the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at
the date of shareholders’ approval of the refreshment.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued)
in respect of which options may be granted under the
2011 Scheme and any other schemes to any eligible
person in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue, unless a
shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of
their respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors. Where share options
are proposed to be granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director, or any of their
respective associates, and the grant would result in the
aggregate of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted or to be granted under the 2011
Scheme and any other schemes to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of offer
of the relevant share options to (i) represent in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total number of issued shares for the
time being; and (i) have an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
the proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of
the shareholders in general meeting with the connected

persons abstaining from voting in favour.
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32. BRESE(B)

(b)

—E——F5E(8)

HiRE =T ——F&t 8 RAEMRE M2
B Z A R 1T R i A 31T 2 AR 1D
FEAEAESTREBRRME—F——
FHEEBARRBEHTRMHEE 210%
([FTEIELER]) - ZBRA &= LR K
NRAEBRIRREARAE ERBRFEZER
BREHEBRELR EEEH 2TE
BRELRTSEARRAEEHZAE
TRDBEZ10% °

B B JE BRI SN  REA + — B A HE
BIE - T ——Fat B REMEME 37 5
RTEMEERALTZBREMSRZE
BEORBTETROEBE & TSEH
RABEHTROBER 1% °

EARTEE ARBAZEETHAER
TERRIERMNKRESBEBEA L ZER
BULEAESBIUFFNTES 2] E- M
A ERRER B IERNITE R SRR
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) The 2011 Scheme (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2011 Scheme during such period as may be
determined by the board of directors (which shall not be
more than 10 years commencing on the date on which the
share option is granted and accepted). Unless otherwise
determined by the board of directors, there is no minimum
period for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised. Subject to early termination by the Company
in general meeting or the board of directors, the 2011
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on its date of adoption.

On 27 July 2012, 284,000,000 share options have been
granted and accepted under the 2011 Scheme.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 284,000,000
(2012: 61,000,000) share options outstanding under the share
option schemes which represented approximately 7.48% (2012:
1.81%) of the Company’s shares in issue at that date. All share
options outstanding at 31 March 2013 were granted under
the 2011 Scheme and there was no share option outstanding
under the 2002 Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 284,000,000 (2012: 61,000,000)
additional shares and additional share capital of HK$2,840,000
(2012: HK$610,000) and share premium of HK$43,452,000
(2012: HK$7,452,000) (before issue expenses).

32. BRESE(B)

(b) =F——£58 (&)
BRETNEZSET 2ABPHE (T5F
EREBRERENERAZAETSF)A
BIE-F——F5 8 2GR T ATE B
EXe5TEEIN LEREAITEANL
AREBREZREHAR - ZARARNRK
RAEHEZSRERLEAR —F——
FRABEBNRBBEHE +FHBAA B K
Effe

R=ZZT——FtHA=++tH" 284,000,000
DERECREBE-_T——FHE2BLRE
B

REEBR AR ESERETETA
284,000,000 (=& — =4 :61,000,00013 )
B MARITE  WEARRIRZBEBEBEITRG
27.48% (ZE——F:181%) 2R _F
—=F=A=t+—HBHERTTEZBEREIRE=
T——FFEEL BERRERE-TZT=
STEMARITE - BREARBERN 2 ENER B
ST 1w R 1T 50 B AR 8 % 28 B0 86 17284,000,000
B (=ZZ——4%:61,000,0000%) ZBIN& 1) K 58
HNIR 7R 2,840,0008 70 (—F— =4 : 610,000/
7T ) R B A 5 (E43,452,0008 7 (Z & — — £ :
7,452,000% L) (KR EEITHAZA) ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

=F=ZA=t—HIEHFE

32. BRESE(B)

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share

options held by directors, employees and consultants and

movements in the share options granted under the 2002
Scheme and the 2011 Scheme.

For the year ended 31 March 2013

TREFER EERERTAZARRERE

ERE-ET
2 W R

BE-EZ-=HS=ZA=Z1+—HLEFE

Number of share options

—EHBR-T - —FHBER

LR

BREHE
Weighted
average
closing
share price
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding  immediately
Exercise price at during during during at before
Grantee Date of grant per share Exercisable period 31.03.2012 the year the year the year 31.03.2013  exercise date
R=%-=% R=%-=F BEGRAH
ZA=t-H ZA=t-B  HRGNE
ERA RiHBH BRTRE ATEHE R ATE ERRH ERfTE EREH HATE  PHRTE
HKS HKS
AT BT
The 2002 Scheme
“ERCERY
Directors
j &3
Chow Siu Ngor 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.1645
NG 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 = - (500,000) = NA RER
Chan Chi Yuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 2,500,000 = (2,500,000) - = 0.1645
REE 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 - - (500,000) - NA FER
Consultants and other 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 27,000,000 - - (27,000,000) - NA FER
eligible participants 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 28,000,000 - - (28,000,000) = NA RER
BERELAERSEN
61,000,000 - (5,000,000)  (56,000,000) -
The 2011 Scheme
It s |
Employees 27.07.2012 0.1630 27.07.2012 - 26.07.2014 - 99,000,000 - - 99,000,000 NA RER
&8
Consultants and other 27.07.2012 0.1630 27.07.2012 - 26.07.2014 - 185,000,000 - - 185,000,000 NA FEA
eligible participants
BEREMAERSEN
- 284,000,000 - - 284,000,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

32. BRELTE(E)
BEe_T——_F=A=+—HIHFE

Number of share options

BREHA
Weighted
average
closing
share price
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding  immediately
Exercise price at during during during at before
Grantee Date of grant per share Exercisable period 31.03.2011 the year the year the year 31.03.2012  exercise date
RZB--F R=2-ZF RETERH
ZR=t-H ZA=t-B  HRGNE
ERA RHBH BRTRE ATEHE R ATE ERRH ERTR EREH HATE  PHRTE
HKS HKS
B B
The 2002 Scheme
“ERCERE
Directors
4
Ho Chi Ho 11.05.2009 0.0730 31.07.2009 - 10.05.2012 225,000,000 - (225,000,000) - - 0.1863
(Resigned on
13.01.2012)
SR (R=F—=F
—A+ZH#fE)
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.2195
SR 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 - (500,000) - - 0.2511
Chow Siu Ngor 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 NA FER
N 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 - - - 500,000 N/A RiEf
Wong Hoi Kuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.2195
B9 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 - (500,000) - - 0251
Chan Chi Yuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 NA R ER
REE 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 - - - 500,000 N/A RiE
Hung Hing Man 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 500,000 - (500,000) - - 02511
HLEX
Employees 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 500,000 - (500,000) - - 0.2195
&8 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 57,000,000 - (57,000,000) - - 02511
Consultants and other 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009 - 15.09.2012 27,000,000 - - - 27,000,000 N/A TR
eligible participants 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011 - 24.01.2013 157,000,000 - (129,000,000 - 28,000,000 0.2511
BEREMEERSEN
479,000,000 - (418,000,000) = 61,000,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$0.1650 (2012:
HK$0.2287).

As at 31 March 2013, the fair value of the share options granted
during the year was HK$4,532,000 (2012: HK$Nil) and the
Company recognised share-based payment of HK$4,532,000
(2012: HK$Nil).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model (the “Model”), taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Details of
the fair values of share options determined at the date of grant
using the Model with significant variables and assumptions are

as follows:

32. BRESE(B)

FABTEERERTERA ZNETFARESR
0.1650 7T (=& — —4:0.22878 L) °

RZE—=F=ZA=+—H FRAEELEBER
2 XNF{EB4,532,0008 (T — —&F:
THIL) MARAERNUERG BER ZHK
4,532,000 L (ZE——F :THFx) °

PR H AR A 8 B 7 fE B ) X FE R R B
AN - hEER (TZERX]) HE
I B 2 5% R RO 2 {5 T {1 - B R Ak A
RELAHUAZBEABEZAFEREREE
RBE&EFEBOT:

Date of share
options grant

27.07.2012

BREZHAN

—E—Z-F+tHA

—++A

Exercise price (HK$) 1T1EE (L) 0.1630
Dividend yield s 0%
Expected volatility T8 HR ) 1R 27.467%
Risk-free interest rate 4 J3 e 1) 0.160%
Expected life of option (year) TEHRBRES WA (F) 1
Closing share price at grant date (HK$) KA 2R THE (Er) 0.1620

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate
historical volatility of closing prices of the share of the Company
in the past one year immediately before the date of grant,
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome. The risk-free interest rate represents the yields to
maturity of respective Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note as at
the share options grant date. The expected life of the options is
based on the historical data and is not necessarily indicative of
exercise patterns that may occur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.
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33.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #ZE=T—

BB RKE (&)

=F=ZA=tT—HIFE

RESERVES 33. f#fE
The Group REE
The contributed surplus of the Group represents the cancellation AEBZHABBREFTHARRRNRE EE‘:P
of an amount of approximately HK$48,000,000 from the share #748,000,0008 TRR T _FFHEHARQ
premium account of the Company and the credit of an amount AR 49610,247,0008 TL#ERFER R =T _¢
of approximately HK$610,247,000 of the Company’s share RERZTE=FENZAREEMEREL
capital cancelled in 2002 and the contribution of approximately 26,719,000/ T °
HK$26,719,000 from the placing of warrants in 2002 that had
expired in 2003.
The special reserve of the Group represents the difference AEBZENFEREARAANRBALEEREAA
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued HKENB AR mMET I RARBEREZS
by the Company and the nominal amount of share capital MEARRAEAERZ =5
of its subsidiaries acquired at the date of a previous group
reorganisation.
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net BEAEBEBIEB 2 FEERANERER
assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional HEAEEZEIEE (BT A zZELEZ5
currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong Th B N B 2 T UK A e 5RO BE 5 i e R 5T o
dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income ZERELRERSF CELZBREEEINE
and accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such exchange BREFSEEERR
differences accumulated in the exchange reserve are reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.
The Company KA T
Share Capital  Convertible Share
premium  redemption note  Contributed options  Accumulated
account reserve reserve surplus reserve losses Total
E4RE  TERES BRE
17 EE R i e PN i B4 @zt
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET TET
Balance at 1 April 2011 RZE——5MWA—-B &8 605,539 13,878 - 907,760 11,156 (1,492,101) 46,232
Convertible note - equity component, TRREE-ERZTH
net of transaction costs (NBRZ/E) - - 18,352 - - = 18,352
Exercise of share options TR R 50,558 - - - (9,550) - 41,008
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEZETHERE - = - = = (34,055) (34,055)
Balance at 31 March 2012 RZE-—4$=A=1+—-RHZ
&4 656,097 13,878 18,352 907,760 1,606 (1,526,156) 71,537
Issue of shares RIRH 35,875 = - = = = 35,875
Exercise of share options led- 13 664 - - - (134) - 530
Transfer on lapse of share options TABERR AR K RS B - - - - (1,472) 1,472 =
Grant of share options Rt iR - - - = 4532 = 4,532
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEERATHAE - - - - - (129,615) (129,615)
Balance at 31 March 2013 R-E-Z%=A=t-HZ2
&8 692,636 13,878 18,352 907,760 4532 (1,654299) (17,141)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

33. RESERVES (continued) 33. fEfE (&)

Convertible note reserve represents the amount allocated to the
equity component of convertible note issued by the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible note in note 4(q).

The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i) the difference between the consolidated shareholders’
funds of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of
a previous group reorganisation;

(i) the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account of the
Company and the credit of an amount of approximately
HK$610,247,000 of the Company's share capital cancelled
in 2002; and

(iii)  the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000 from the
placing of warrants in 2002 that had expired in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company'’s assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 March 2012 and
31 March 2013.

The share options reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will
either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to accumulated
losses should the related options expire or be forfeited.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. WEEKI B A F
On 29 December 2011, the Group completed the acquisition RZE——F+ A=+ NAhB AEEZEKWA
of 90% equity interest in Yunnan He Da Investments Company —BBEVE=ZFTRBEENERERRATZ
Limited which held 60% direct equity interest in Mianning 90% Mkt - R A A EEFEE2ER KRR L RHX
Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology Company Limited (“Mianning BRAA ([REXKR])60%KE R KER
Maoyuan”), from an independent third party for a cash AR #380,000,0007t (48 & M 49468,557,000
consideration of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately BIT) cREXIREFREM)I|BLEERH LLFMT
HK$468,557,000). Mianning Maoyuan operates a rare earth B EEREHLERNRANT  EmBEZER
refinery plant located in Sichuan Province, the PRC and is RIZRHEBEERBTE BESRRREERE
principally engaged in the refinery and processing of rare RemHBBEERAKESEARK:-
earth elements into products which have broad applications
in industrial and consumer related industries including high-
technology and green energy. The acquisition has been
accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.
Details of aggregate net assets acquired and goodwill arising on RHEKERKECBEETFERELE ZHEF
the acquisition were as follows: BanE :
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition date
WKRES
REBREDZ
AFE
HK$'000
TFET
Net assets acquired: W2 FEE:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) M BB R SE (H7T6) 107,357
Land use rights (Note 17) T ERRE (AaE17) 5,473
Intangible asset (Note 19) mEE (f1:£19) 547,472
Inventories EE8 22,768
Other receivables H fth & W 5K8 10,847
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEHEIEE 79
Trade payables BB SER1E (19,769)
Other payables H b & BR I8 (124,155)
550,072
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WBEEZHE:
Purchase consideration settled in cash NIREeHEEZBERE 468,557
Add: Non-controlling interests 0 FEVERRAE 253,051
Less: Net assets acquired R A 550,072
Goodwill (Note 18) B (Hat18) 171,536
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEELEZHREES R FE:
Cash consideration HeRE 468,557
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired BB RE RS EEIAE 79
468,478
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—ZT—=F=H=+—HItFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34. WEKE AR (&)

The Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Mianning Maoyuan
is attributable to the development potentials in rare earth
processing business in China which will benefit from the PRC
government'’s policies in recent years to consolidate the industry
and restrict output.

The non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition date
was measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets.

Acquisition related costs paid in 2012 of approximately
HK$5,179,000 have been included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated income statement.

The acquired subsidiaries contributed approximately HK$6,000
to the Group’s turnover and approximately HK$12,313,000 loss
to the Group's loss attributable to shareholders of the Company
for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2012.

If the above acquired businesses had occurred on 1 April
2011, the Group’s turnover would have been approximately
HK$28,769,000 and loss for the year ended 31 March 2012
would have been approximately HK$64,566,000.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 17 August 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
Fame Plus International Limited, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of its entire interests in Unique Gold Investments Limited and
its wholly-owned subsidiary, EEBLAETEEXARET QA
(Chongging Feng Hong Ji Enterprise Company Limited) (the
“Project Company”), at a consideration of RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,240,000) for cash. When
the sale and purchase agreement had been entered into, the
purchaser paid RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$30,600,000) to the Project Company to settle and repay the
debts between the Group and the Project Company (the “Sunrise
Debts”). The disposal was completed on 31 August 2012. The

35.

HEMHE A A

RZZE——FNA+LR AEBZ2EWBA
AlFame Plus International Limited®d — 2%z
FE=HFVEEBERE LHERTREGRAR
RE2EWBAREERLAEEEERELR
AI([HEERAR2HKE BeREAARE
10,000,0007T (46 & R 4912,240,0007 7T ) ° 7
BEWEI LB EHFEMERARXMFARE
25,000,0007T (48 & 1 £730,600,0007 7T ) * LA
BEREEASEEABEE ARMZER ([BE
BBl HEZEHEER - E——FENA=+—
BEK REEAHEEZFEENT

net assets disposed of at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$'000
FET

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) Y R KRR (HTiE16) 18
Properties under development (Note 22) BRAPYE (Mi722) 43,481
Bank balances and cash IRITHERRRIR S 3
Other payables H fth fE T AR 18 (30,600)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 30) RIEFRIE B & (Mi230) (1,380)
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE 11,522
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMHE AR Z W :
Cash consideration ReERE 12,240
Net assets disposed of HECFEE (11,522)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of BB AR FEENHERBER

the net assets of the subsidiary reclassified from BN ERERERC R EL 8

equity to profit or loss on disposal (Note 73) (Hi1at13) 938
Gain on disposal (Note 7) & Was (AaE7) 1,656
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEZRESRAFR:
Cash consideration REeERE 12,240
The Sunrise Debts BRE® 30,600
Total proceeds FriS IR 45 42,840
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRTAEKRKLRS (3)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of HBHEENBEARBBEZRERES

the disposal of subsidiaries LREERAFE 42,837
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% R R MY RE ()

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—T—=F=A=+—HILFE

85

36.

37.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The subsidiaries disposed of during the year ended 31 March
2013 contributed approximately HK$Nil to the Group’s turnover
and loss of approximately HK$783,000 to the Group’s loss from
operations for the year ended 31 March 2013.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
At 31 March 2013,
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial

the Group had capital commitment

statements in respect of the purchase of plant and machinery
amounting to approximately HK$346,000 (2012: approximately
HK$678,000).

The Company had no significant capital commitments at both
balance sheet dates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) At 31 March 2013, the Company had given guarantees
to two lenders in respect of other borrowings utilised by
a subsidiary to an extent of RMB256,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$316,049,000) (2012: equivalent to
approximately HK$315,193,000).
consider it probable that a claim will be made against the

The Directors do not

Company under any of the guarantees. The maximum
liability of the Company at 31 March 2013 under the
guarantees by the Company is the aggregate amount
of the borrowings drawn down by the subsidiary and
the outstanding interests payable. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair value of these guarantees is not

significant.

(b) The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of
financial support given to certain subsidiaries which have
capital deficiencies to allow them to continue as a going
concern and to meet their liabilities as and when they fall
due.

(c)  Other than those mentioned in (a) above, the Group had
no other significant contingent liabilities as at both balance
sheet dates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group made minimum lease payments of approximately
HK$5,679,000 (2012: HK$4,918,000) under operating leases
during the year.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

38.

RERENARE

AEBEEREEA
AEBFEARBEEROELRERENK
#15,679,000/% 7T (=% — =4 : 4,918,000/
L)

REE R ARBEER A BEEEEBOEAER
ERREESMZ HOERFHOT :

The Group
rEH

2013 2012
—E—=F =g s
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 3,304 2,731
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_EZERF (REEEMST) 385 116
3,689 2,847

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office premises, staff quarter,
warehouses and motor vehicle. Leases are negotiated and fixed
for an average term of one to three years.

REMENFEAKREREETRFEYE B
ITEE RERAEZEMNES BAOFHFY
BER—E=%F-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)

Financial instruments by categories

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been

applied to the line items below:

39.

5t %5 R B B B

(@) BEINHS2EMTA
ERSBMTASHBREZEEMT

The Group AEE
Financial assets
at fair value
Loans and through
receivables profit or loss Total
BATE
BERK TAB®
e e BR 1 ZERMEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FET
Assets as per consolidated REEEEABRZEE
balance sheet
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE-—=5=H=+—H
Trade and other receivables Y E 5 & H A ARIA
(excluding prepayments) (T BEBRNKIE) 57,309 - 57,309
Financial assets at fair value through & AFEFABRZEREE
profit or loss (Note 24) (H1E24) - 38,845 38,845
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) B &RESFHEIER (M:725) 56,437 - 56,437
Total Bt 113,746 38,845 152,591
At 31 March 2012 R-ZE-——H=F=+-—H
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K EH thBRIE
(excluding prepayments) (T BEBRNKIE) 30,268 - 30,268
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAEZZEMEE
profit or loss (Note 24) (HE24) - 39,606 39,606
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) R& MBS EHIEBER (#:725) 18,774 - 18,774
Total FEE 49,042 39,606 88,648
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued)

The Group (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HZEZ=T—

39. BKERER (8)

SE=A=t+-AILERE

(a) ZEHRBMOZEMT A (55)

REE (&)

Financial
liabilities measured
at amortised cost

RBERETEZ
cRmBes
HK$000
FET
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet RGEEEEBRZERE
At 31 March 2013 R=-E—=%=ZH=+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 26) R E S R EMERIE (4:726) 37,405
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of — FE{ Ki /B A 7] JEIZ R AR B FRIE (M7 5227)

a subsidiary (Note 27) 21,162
Bank and other borrowings (Note 28) IRITREMEE (H7728) 66,667
Convertible note (Note 29) AR EE (#17729) 94,823
Total et 220,057
At 31 March 2012 R-ZE——-—H=A=+—8H
Trade and other payables ENE S REMEE (TaEEKKIE)

(excluding advance receipts) 161,527
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of — FE{F i B A 7] IE 1= R AR SR FRIE (7 5227)

a subsidiary (Note 27) 20,330
Bank and other borrowings (Note 28) RITREMEE (4:728) 434,714
Convertible note (Note 29) AR RIE (A17229) 88,848
Total #BET 705,419
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MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Financial instruments by categories (continued)

39. BKERER (8)

(a) ZEHRBMOZEMT A (55)

The Company YN
Loans and
receivables
BEREEWERSE
HK$'000
FET
Assets as per balance sheet REEEBRZEE
At 31 March 2013 R-—E—=f=H=+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20) FE W Bt /28 A B kI8 (K7 a£20) 68,868
Other receivables (excluding prepayments) EEWRE (TREEMNRIE) 104
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) Re kR EHWEE (f225) 53,212
Total #BEt 122,184
At 31 March 2012 R-E——-F£=HF=+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20) JiE U B /B8 X Bl 3k (K7 a£20) 250,925
Other receivables (excluding prepayments) H i EWERIE (T EERMNKIE) 60
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) ReRBREELIEE (Hi725) 6,611
Total @t 257,596
Financial
liabilities measured
at amortised cost
REBERATEZ
SEAE
HK$'000
FET
Liabilities as per balance sheet REEEERZAR
At 31 March 2013 R=ZB—=F=ZHA=+—8H
Other payables (Note 26) H fh fE A BRI (A7 2226) 6,626
Convertible note (Note 29) AMRER (#i£29) 94,823
Total FoE 101,449
At 31 March 2012 R-—ZE—_-—f=H=+—H
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 20) FEAT BT BB A B3 (K7 2£20) 55,277
Other payables (Note 26) H fih FE T AR I8 (T2t 26) 8,348
Convertible note (Note 29) AR (1 i229) 88,848
Total Rt 152,473
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest

rate risk and price risk),

credit risk and liquidity risk

arising in the normal course of its business and financial

instruments. The Group’s risk management objectives and

policies mainly focus on minimizing the potential adverse

effects of these risks on the Group by closely monitoring

the individual exposure as follows:

(1) Market risk

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to
adverse movements in foreign exchange rates
relating to investments denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group's assets and liabilities are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
When seeking to optimise the returns on its
funds available for investments, the Group
has certain investments in foreign operations,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk.

At 31 March 2013,
strengthened/weakened by 10% against the

if Hong Kong dollars had

RMB, with all other variable held constant,
equity would have been approximately
HK$8,958,000 (2012: HK$33,681,000),
or higher.

lower

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to each of the Group
entities’ exposure to currency risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date, and
that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. The changes in foreign
exchange rate represent management'’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rate at that date over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date.

39. BKERER (8)

(b)

B % 2 B R 32
AEEZEBHEE - REXBEERER
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%EH CAERRERERERRR)  EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—T—=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

(1)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in above
represent an aggregation of the effects on
each of the Group entities’ profit or loss and
equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet
date for presentation purposes. The analysis is
prepared on the same basis for 2012.

Interest rate risk

Except for cash and cash equivalents, the Group
has no other significant interest-bearing assets.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Management does not
anticipate significant impact on interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest
rates because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rate arising from the Group's bank borrowing
denominated in RMB.

Bank borrowing at floating interest rates
exposes the Group to cash flow interest-rate
risk. Details of the Group’s bank borrowing have
been disclosed in Note 28.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. In
order to manage the cash flow interest rate
risk, the Group will repay the corresponding
borrowing when it has surplus funds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for the floating rate bank borrowings at
the balance sheet date. For floating rate bank
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liabilities outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the
whole year.

At 31 March 2013, if interest rates on floating
rate bank borrowing had been 25 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$25,000 (2012: HK$25,000)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on floating rate bank

borrowing.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared with
the assumption that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the balance sheet date and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for the relevant financial instruments in
existence at that date. The changes in interest
rates represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in interest rates at
that date over the period until the next annual
balance sheet date. The analysis is prepared on
the same basis for 2012.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—T—=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)
(iif) ~ Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price
risk for the equity investments held by the
Group which are classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss. Majority of the
Group’s equity securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange and are valued at quoted market
prices as at the balance sheet date. The Group is
not exposed to commodity price risk.

Listed investments held in the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss portfolio
have been chosen taking reference to their
long term growth potential and returns and are
monitored regularly for performance. Given that
the volatility of the stock markets may not have
a direct correlation with the Group’s investment
portfolio, it is impractical to determine the
impact that the changes in stock market indices
would have on the Group’s portfolio of equity
investments.

At 31 March 2013, it is estimated that an
increase/a decrease of 10% in the market value
of the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, with all other variables
held constant, loss for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$3,884,000 (2012:
HK$3,961,000). The stated changes represent
management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in the market value of the
Group's investment portfolio over the period
until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is prepared on the same basis for 2012.

The Company is exposed to other price risk
in respect of investments in subsidiaries.
The sensitivity to price risk in relation to the
investments in subsidiaries cannot be reliably
determined due to numerous uncertainties
regarding the future development of these
subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued)

(2)

(3)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is principally attributable to
trade and other receivables and bank balances. The
Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
It has policies in place to ensure that sales of products
are made and services are provided to customers
with an appropriate credit history. The customer with
sound payment history would accumulate a higher
credit limit.

Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in Note 23.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with high
quality external credit ratings in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions. The Group aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available and sufficient bank deposits to meet
short term cash requirements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(3) Liquidity risk (continued)
The following amounts are the contractual
undiscounted cash flow payments of the Group’s
financial liabilities (including interest elements) at the
earliest dates the Group requires to pay.

39. BKERER (8)

(b)

BmEBERE (&)

(3) mEBELEE (&)
TIHREAAEEANREFEZEER
HremBBE(BHMNEKN)EH
SERERIME M

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

BHERRRERE
More than More than
one year two years but
Carrying  Within one year but less than less than
amount  or on demand two years five years Total
BA-F BBWEF
BEHE -FARRER BHORME BOIREF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FETL FET FET FET
At 31 March 2013 R-Z-=%=A=t+-H
Trade and other payables BB S REMERE 37,405 37,405 - - 37,405
Amount due to a non- FE A B 2 R SE R R AR SR AR IR
controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary 21,162 - 21,162 - 21,162
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE 66,667 729 67,031 = 67,760
Convertible note ARRER 94,823 1,050 106,050 - 107,100
Total oy 220,057 39,184 194,243 - 233,427
At 31 March 2012 R-ZZ--#ZA=1+-H
Trade and other payables ERESREMERE 165,134 165,134 = = 165,134
Amount due to a non- ERHBARFERRESRE
controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary 20,330 - 20,330 - 20,330
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 434,714 48,410 462,969 - 511,379
Convertible note RRRE 88,848 1,050 1,050 106,050 108,150
Total @it 709,026 214,594 484,349 106,050 804,993
(c) Capital risk management (0 EXEAKREE

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(0

Capital risk management (continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in

economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt
as total debt (which include trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings and convertible note) less
cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity. The Group’s policy is to keep that
ratio at a reasonable level.

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 March 2013
and 2012 are as follows:

39. BKERER (8)

(0

EXEBREE (&)
AEEEGLENRTREEEEARAR
B AERBRRGERRSER (A EELER
SKFEE)ERIFEARRZ ED RIE
FE M2 AR R TG IR RS IR 3 B
HEARRE-

KRB ER REEEEHEEARERE -3

H(EBRENESREMEKER RITRE
MEEARABRBRER)REREMREE
RIAR - RABRBABEMARERLD - &
SEZ BRI RRFESIEKF -

RZEB—=R_ZT——_F=A=+—H
ZEBFEHERBEANLERMT :

2013 2012

—E—=F —EF—_F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade and other payables FERT B 5 K& A fih AR 1E 37,405 165,134
Amount due to a non-controlling JE ST B 28 2 ] 3 28 R AR 2R SR IE

shareholder of a subsidiary 21,162 20,330

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 66,667 434,714

Convertible note - liability component AR ZE -8 ELH 94,823 88,848

Total debt BIsHas 220,057 709,026

Less: Cash and cash equivalents H-BekBFE&EEHREE 56,437 18,774

Net debt BERIFE 163,620 690,252

Adjusted capital — Total equity KABRAR =R 190,554 360,413

Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BB FEACHBERL X 86% 192%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to either internally or externally imposed capital

requirements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e)

Fair values

The carrying value of financial instruments measured at
fair value at the balance sheet date across the three levels
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each
financial instrument categorised in its entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
adjustment.

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial
instruments.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active
markets for similar financial instruments, or using valuation
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using valuation
techniques in which any significant input is not based on
observable market data.

At 31
measured at fair value of the Group are financial

March 2013, the only financial instruments

assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting
to HK$38,845,000 (2012: HK$39,606,000) and were
classified as level 1.

Estimation of fair values

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Estimated
discounted cash flows at the current market interest rate
are used to determine fair value for all these financial

instruments (i.e. Level 3 — lowest level).
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40. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED

PARTIES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with the FR
following related parties, together with balances with them as at A7 4

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE-—Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

the balance sheet date, details of which are as follows:

40. EREALTZX B RER

CAEEENTHEALTETERRS &
HHERE 2&EHR FENT

2013 2012
—E-=F T
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Key management compensation AEEFZEEBEAEHM:
of the Group:
Salaries and other short-term employee e hkHEMEHEESRT
benefits 1,155 979
Substantial shareholder: FTERRE:
Subscription of convertible note REBAIRBRER (Hi29)

(Note 29) - 105,000
Interest on convertible note (Note 29) AR EE TS (A7:229) 1,050 478
Top-up Subscription (Note 31) HERESEE (Het31) 40,740 -
Other interest H A2 7 =

A company controlled by a substantial HEZERRZES AR :
shareholder:
Other borrowing (Note 28) Hintg & (H:228) 56,790 56,636

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant

transactions with related parties during the year or significant

balances with them at the end of the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

41.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee.

Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions at 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income
statement represent contributions payable to the fund by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years.

The employees in the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE=ZT—=F=A=+—HILFE

42. LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited (“Silver
Wind”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a conditional agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”)
with Stronway Development Limited (“Stronway Development”),
pursuant to which Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway
Development the entire equity interest in Winmax Asia
Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”). Under the arrangement,
Winmax Asia will in turn acquire the entire equity interest in
Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development Co. (“Jianxing”) along
with Jianxing's standalone villas development project in Beijing
known as “FT27EE". The aggregate consideration payable for
the acquisition was RMB433,000,000 which was to be settled
in cash and two villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000
was paid under the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway
Development by Silver Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details
of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s circular dated 14
December 2007.

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things, that the
subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement was frustrated,
Silver Wind decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement
and, through its legal representative has served a notice of
termination to Stronway Development. In order to protect the
position of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other things,
the Deposit from Stronway Development legal proceedings were
instigated against Stronway Development on this matter in the
High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.

In the opinion of the directors, the probability of recovery of the
deposit could not be ascertained and hence full amount had
been directly written off in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2008. As at the date of this report,
the legal proceedings against Stronway Development are still
pending and there is no significant development.

42.

i
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fff B A Al Silver Wind International Limited
([Silver Wind ] ) EiStronway Development
Limited ([Stronway Development |) &3 B f§
ik (MU g D) - #B Lt - Silver WindR &
[ Stronway DevelopmentZEE gk a8 KK EH
BRAR([IKEAR]) 22 RkE- BEEAR
K EASERBLREEEHERESR
RAR ([BE])z2HKRE EREZHECR
IR - BRIHEER] 2B RIEEREIEAE -
RZBEFHENZAREBURSARK
433,000,000 T R MERELfF- R=ZTZLF
+= A - Silver WindE 18 & Uk 88 17 5% @) Stronway
DevelopmentX i A & #20,000,0007T {F & 1%
® ([ZiEz]) °H$ZE§$IE§$’\EﬁEAZK“ET H &
AR-EELFT_ATHMAZA

E’\fff)\iﬂﬂ ER (HEJ8E) KEiH
BIBENZEER ?%E‘Exﬁl Silver Wind# E 4
Jt%ﬂ%%’m& I i i@ H K 2 X & mStronway
DevelopmentiX 3 £ |F A & » B R [ESilver
WindZ #| %5 % [ Stronway Developmentif &
(ErRE3E)ZiE%  Silver WindR =TT )\ F
MA+HBHUEERESSZER R Stronway
Development/& /AR R fF °

EERABARERRARE ZIZE Z AL - )
EE@?:??)\@:H =+t BLEEEZ&HZ
EUBRREEZE T UM -RAREEH
#t ¥ Stronway DevelopmentZ A2 7 13 A 1
R BWESKER -

Annual Report 2013 —Z— =44 1 53



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBHERRKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 BE—Z—=F=H=+—HItFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. FEMBLAAFE
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March RZZE—=F=A=+—H ARRIZEEWNE
2013 are as follows: RAEFBEOT :

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company?/ capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group  Principal activities
KRR/
W B 2 R AT
BRTRE/ AREfE
EMAL BRRE,/ A ER ERITRE
WEAREM it B HEMEE B ERLH TEXH
% %
Full Champion Financial Limited B.V.I. Uss$3 100# 100 Securities trading
RBRIHES 3ETL EREE
New Team Limited B.V.I. Us$1 1007 100 Investment holding
EBRAFES 17T RERR
Power Rise International Limited B.V.I. Us$1 100¢ 100 Securities trading
EBRRHER 1% EHEE
Prosper City International Limited Hong Kong HK$100 51 51 Trading of building
RERRAERDA S 100/ 7T materials and
provision of
renovation service
REMKEIR
REEE RS
LBEERSERAA PRC US$11,080,000 51 51 Property development
Shanghai Hualong Construction g 11,080,000 75 and sales
Co. Ltd. NEBRRHEE
Sun Spread Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
REEEFBR A B 1T REER
Super Target Limited B.VI. Us$1 100* 100 Investment holding
RERAES 1% REER
Top Field Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
EERRBRAA B BT REER
China Gamma Group Hong Kong HK$1 100* 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited S 18T REER

TEMEEE (BE)ERAT
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RKE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #ZE=T—

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

44.

=F=ZA=tT—HIFE

43. T EMBLRFE (&)

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company?/ capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group  Principal activities
AQF/
e R 2 R A
BRTRE/ AEEfE
EMAL #BRBRE/ HEREA BERTRA
il NGIEE ot 1 i B HERER EfE Al BREAl  FEBER
% %
EEMARHEREERAA PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Chonggqing Sunrise Property HE AK#20,000,0007T MERE
Development Company Limited
MEFRSRERRITERA PRC RMB29,000,000 80 80  Gamma ray irradiation
Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray H A& #29,000,0007T services
Technologies Co. Limited 35 51 43 R 5T AR 75
EEMEREFRAA PRC RMB 10,000,000 90 90 Investment holding
Yunnan He Da Investments HE AK#10,000,0007T REER
Company Limited
EEERRRLHBEBRAA PRC RMB20,000,000 60 54 Rare earth refinery and
Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth H AK#20,000,0007T processing business
Technology Company Limited BIAMIES
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the REEZ B FRERKRE - B ARBREEAE
end of the year or at any time during the year. %75 o

The above table includes the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year’s presentation. For better presentation, the
amount of PRC land appreciation tax charged to consolidated
income statement is presented under taxation instead of being
included in administrative expenses. This reclassification has no
effect on the results and the financial position of the Group and
the Company for the current and prior years.

44.
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Financial Summary

MBEREE

RESULTS E4
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-HLEE
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
—ZETNE ZE-%TF T——F <ZT-——F ZB-Z=Zf
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Turnover S0 3,902 3,762 30,473 26,726 48,523
Loss attributable to equity ZAN/NGIE End
shareholders of the Company (L BB (78,812) (51,194) (29,203) (56,198) (143,475)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
—ZETNE T-TF —T——F T ZB-Z=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FET FHETT FET FET
Total assets BERE 195,016 176,855 204,748 1,077,098 949,997
Total liabilities BEBE 64,611 67,698 99,606 716,685 759,443
Net assets BEFE 130,405 109,157 105,142 360,413 190,554
Non-controlling interests

FEFE AR R -

1 56 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

6,615

4,836

249,276

178,604
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